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SALISBURY SECURITIES CORPORATION  

 

 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2024 and 2023 

 

NOTE 1 -   GENERAL INFORMATION 

 

SALISBURY SECURITIES CORPORATION (the Company) was registered with the 

Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission under registration number 122818 on October 2, 

1984. The Company is established primarily to create an institutional medium which will engage 

in and carry on the business of stock and bond brokerage and toward this end to buy and sell, for 

the account of others or for its own account, securities of all kinds and to engage in the business of 

effecting papers, of any person, partnership, association, syndicate, corporation or government 

body, agency or instrumentality, local or national, whether such securities or commercial papers be 

of domestic or foreign origin. 

 

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of BKT Holdings, Inc., (the Parent Company), located 

at 1806-1807 PSE Tower, 5th Avenue corner 28th Street, Bonifacio Global City, Taguig City. The 

Parent Company is established primarily to purchase, subscribe for, or otherwise acquire and own, 

hold, use, invest, and all ways deal with personal and real property of every kind and descriptions, 

including shares of the capital stock of corporations, bonds, notes, evidence of indebtedness, and 

other securities, contracts or obligations of any corporation without however engaging in dealership 

in securities or real estate, or stock brokerage business or the business of an investment company.  

 

On August 26, 2022, the Securities and Exchange Commission approved the amendment of the 

Company's name from Salisbury BKT Securities Corporation to Salisbury Securities Corporation.  

 

The Company’s registered office, which is also its principal place of business, is located at 1806-

1807 PSE Tower, 5th Avenue corner 28th Street, Bonifacio Global City, Taguig City. 

 

Approval of the Financial Statement 

 

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024 including its 

comparative figure for the year ended December 31, 2023 were approved and authorized for issue 

by the Board of Directors (BOD) on April 14, 2025. The Board of Directors is empowered to make 

revisions even after the date of issue. 

 

 

NOTE 2 -   BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION 
 

Statement of Compliance 

 

The financial statements have been prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting 

Standards (PFRS) Accounting Standards as approved by the Philippine Financial and Sustainability 

Reporting Standards Council (FSRSC) (formerly Philippine Financial Reporting Standards 

Council). This financial reporting framework includes PFRS, Philippine Accounting Standards 

(PAS) and Philippines interpretations from International Financial Reporting Interpretations 

Committee (IFRIC) and adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), including 

SEC pronouncement. 

 

Basis of Preparation and Measurement 

 

The Company has prepared the financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2024 

and 2023 on a going concern basis, which assumes continuity of current business activities and the 

realization of assets and settlements of liabilities in the ordinary course of business. 
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The financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso (₱), the Company’s functional and 

presentation currency. All values are rounded to the nearest peso, except when otherwise indicated. 

 

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared on a historical cost basis. Historical 

cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for an asset or fair 

value of consideration received in exchange for incurring liability. 

 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 

orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value 

measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability 

takes place either:  

 

• in the principal market for the asset or liability; or 

• in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or 

liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Company. 

 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants 

would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic 

best interest. 

 

A fair value measurement of a nonfinancial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to 

generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 

market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

 

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses market observable data 

to the extent possible. If the fair value of an asset or a liability is not directly observable, it is 

estimated by the Company (working closely with external qualified valuers) using valuation 

techniques that maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of 

unobservable inputs (e.g. by use of the market comparable approach that reflects recent transaction 

prices for similar items, discounted cash flow analysis, or option pricing models refined to reflect 

the issuer’s specific circumstances). Inputs used are consistent with the characteristics of the asset 

or liability that market participants would take into account. 

 

Further information about assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in the following: 

 

• Note 5 - Significant Judgments, Accounting Estimates and Assumptions 

• Note 7 – Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 

• Note 32 - Fair Value Measurement 

 

For financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorized into Level 1, 2 or 3 based 

on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance 

of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety; which are described as follows: 

 

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 

markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices 

included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as 

prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and  

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include 

inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 

inputs). 

 

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are recognized by the Company at the end of 

the reporting period during which the change occurred. 
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NOTE 3 -   ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

 

for the adoption of the following new and amended PFRS Accounting Standards which the 

Company adopted effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024.  

• Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements – Non-current liabilities with 

covenants. 

 

The amendments specify that only covenants that an entity is required to comply with on or before 

the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer settlement of liability for at least 

twelve months after the reporting date (and therefore must be considered in assessing the 

classification of the liability as current or non-current). Such covenants affect whether the right 

exists at the end of the reporting period, even if compliance with the covenant is assessed only after 

the reporting date (e.g. a covenant based on the entity’s financial position at the reporting date that 

is assessed for compliance only after the reporting date). 

 

The IASB also specifies that the right to defer settlement of liability for at least twelve months after 

the reporting date is not affected if an entity only has to comply with a covenant after the reporting 

period. However, if the entity’s right to defer settlement of liability is subject to the entity complying 

with covenants within twelve months after the reporting period, an entity discloses information that 

enables users of financial statements to understand the risk of the liabilities becoming repayable 

within twelve months after the reporting period. This would include information about the 

covenants (including the nature of the covenants and when the entity is required to comply with 

them), the carrying amount of related liabilities, and facts and circumstances, if any, that indicate 

that the entity may have difficulties complying with the covenants. 

 

The amendments are applied retrospectively for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 

January 2024. Earlier application of the amendments is permitted. If an entity applies the 

amendments for an earlier period, it is also required to apply the 2020 amendments early. 

 

• Amendments to PAS 7, Statements of Cash Flows and PFRS 7, Financial instruments: 

Disclosures – Supplier Finance Arrangements 

 

The amendments add a disclosure objective to PAS 7 stating that an entity is required to disclose 

information about its supplier finance arrangements that enable users of financial statements to 

assess the effects of those arrangements on the entity’s liabilities and cash flows.  In addition, IFRS 

7 was amended to add supplier finance arrangements as an example within the requirements to 

disclose information about an entity’s exposure to a concentration of liquidity risk. 

 

The term ‘supplier finance arrangements’ is not defined.  Instead, the amendments describe the 

characteristics of an arrangement for which an entity would be required to provide the information. 

To meet the disclosure objective, an entity will be required to disclose in aggregate for its supplier 

finance arrangements: 

 

a. The terms and conditions of the arrangements 

b. The carrying amount, and associated line items presented in the entity’s statement of 

financial position, of the liabilities that are part of the arrangements 

c. The carrying amount, and associated line items for which the suppliers have already 

received payment from the finance providers 

d. Ranges of payment due dates for both those financial liabilities that are part of a supplier 

finance arrangement and comparable trade payables that are not part of a supplier finance 

arrangement 

e. Liquidity risk information. 
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The amendments, which contain specific transition reliefs for the first annual reporting period in 

which an entity applies the amendments, are applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on 

or after January 2024. Earlier application is permitted.  

 

• Amendments to PFRS 16, Lease liability in a Sale and Leaseback 

 

The amendments to PFRS 16 add   subsequent measurement requirements for sale and leaseback 

transactions that satisfy the requirements in PFRS 15 to be accounted for as a sale. The amendments 

require the seller-lessee to determine ‘lease payments’ or ‘revised lease payments’ such that the 

seller- lessee does not recognize a gain or loss that relates to the right of use retained by the seller-

lessee after the commencement date. 

 

The amendments do not affect the gain or loss recognized by the seller-lessee relating to the partial 

or full termination of a lease. Without these new requirements, a seller-lessee may have recognized 

a gain on the right of use it retains solely because of a remeasurement of the lease liability (for 

example, following a lease modification or change in the lease term) applying the general 

requirements in PFRS 16. This could have been particularly the case in a leaseback that includes 

variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate. 

 

As part of the amendments, the IASB amended an Illustrative Example in PFRS 16 and added a 

new example to illustrate the subsequent measurement of a right-of-use asset and lease liability in 

a sale and leaseback transaction with variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or 

rate.  The illustrative examples also clarify that the liability, that arises from a sale and leaseback 

transaction that qualifies as a sale applying PFRS 15, is a lease liability. 

 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. 

Earlier application is permitted. If a seller-lessee applies the amendments for an earlier period, it is 

required to disclose that fact. 

 

A seller-lessee applies the amendments retrospectively in accordance with PAS 8 to sale and 

leaseback transactions entered into after the date of initial application, which is defined as the 

beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applied PFRS 16. 

 

New and Amended Standards Issued but not yet Effective or Adopted 

 

Pronouncements issued but not yet effective are listed below. The Company intends to apply the 

following pronouncement when they become effective. Adoption of these pronouncements is not 

expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. 

 

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2025  

 

• PFRS 17. Insurance Contracts  

PFRS 17 is a comprehensive new accounting standard for insurance contracts covering recognition 

and measurement, presentation and disclosure. Once effective, PFRS 17 will replace PFRS 4, 

Insurance Contracts. This new standard on insurance contracts applies to all types of insurance 

contracts (i.e., life, non-life, direct insurance and re-insurance), regardless of the type of entities 

that issue them, as well as to certain guarantees and financial instruments with discretionary 

participation features. A few scope exceptions will apply.  

 

The overall objective of PFRS 17 is to provide an accounting model for insurance contracts that is 

more useful and consistent for insurers. In contrast to the requirements in PFRS 4, which are 

largely based on grandfathering previous local accounting policies, PFRS 17 provides a 

comprehensive model for insurance contracts, covering all relevant accounting aspects. The core 

of PFRS 17 is the general model, supplemented by:  
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• A specific adaptation for contracts with direct participation features (the variable fee approach)  

• A simplified approach (the premium allocation approach) mainly for short-duration contracts 

 

On December 15, 2021, the FSRSC amended the mandatory effective date of PFRS 17 from 

January 1, 2023 to January 1, 2025. This is consistent with Circular Letter No. 2020-62 issued by 

the Insurance Commission which deferred the implementation of PFRS 17 by two (2) years after 

its effective date as decided by the IASB.  

 

PFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2025, with comparative 

figures required. Early application is permitted. Based on management assessment, this is not 

expected to have material impact on the financial statements of the Company. 

 

• Amendments to PAS 21, Lack of exchangeability  

 

The amendments specify how an entity should assess whether a currency is exchangeable and how   

it should determine a spot exchange rate when exchangeability is lacking.  

 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2025. 

Earlier adoption is permitted, and that fact must be disclosed. When applying the amendments, an 

entity cannot restate comparative information. Based on management assessment, this is not 

expected to have material impact on the financial statements of the Company. 

 

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2026  

 

• Amendments to PFRS 9 and PFRS 7, Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments  

The amendments clarify that financial liability is derecognized on the 'settlement date', i.e., when 

the related obligation is discharged, cancelled, expires or the liability otherwise qualifies for 

derecognition. They also introduce an accounting policy option to identify financial liabilities that 

are settled through an electronic payment system before settlement date if certain conditions are 

met.  

 

The amendments also clarify how to assess the contractual cash flow characteristics of financial 

assets that include environmental, social and governance (ESG)-linked features and other similar 

contingent features.  

 

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the treatment of non-recourse assets and contractually linked 

instruments. Based on management assessment, this is not expected to have any material impact on 

the financial statements of the Company. 

 

• Annual Improvements to PFRS Accounting Standards-Volume 11  

The amendments are limited to changes that either clarify the wording in an Accounting Standard or 

correct relatively minor unintended consequences, oversight or conflicts between the requirements 

in the Accounting Standards. The following is the summary of the Standards involved and their 

related amendments.  

 

• Amendments to PFRS 1, Hedge Accounting by a First-time Adopter  

The amendments included in paragraphs B5 and B6 of PFRS 1 cross references to the qualifying 

criteria for hedge accounting in paragraph 6.4.1(a), (b) and (c) of PFRS 9. These are intended to 

address potential confusion arising from an inconsistency between the wording in PFRS 1 and the 

requirements for hedge accounting in PFRS 9.  
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• Amendments to PFRS 7, Gain or Loss on Derecognition  

 

The amendments updated the language of paragraph B38 of PFRS 7 on unobservable inputs and 

included a cross reference to paragraphs 72 and 73 of PFRS 13.  

 

• Amendments to PFRS 9  

a) Lessee Derecognition of Lease Liabilities  

 

The amendments to paragraph 2.1 of PFRS 9 clarified that when a lessee has determined that a lease 

liability has been extinguished in accordance with PFRS 9, the lessee is required to apply paragraph 

3.3.3 and recognize any resulting gain or loss in profit or loss.  

 

b) Transaction Price  

 

The amendments to paragraph 5.1.3 of PFRS 9 replaced the reference to 'transaction price as defined 

by PFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers' with 'the amount determined by applying 

PFRS 15'. The term 'transaction price' in relation to PFRS 15 was potentially confusing and so it has 

been removed. The term was also deleted from Appendix A of PFRS 9.  

 

• Amendments to PFRS 10, Determination of a 'De Facto Agent  

The amendments to paragraph B74 of PFRS 10 clarified that the relationship described in B74 is just 

one example of various relationships that might exist between the investor and other parties acting 

as de facto agents of the investor.  

 

• Amendments to PAS 7, Cost Method  

The amendments to paragraph 37 of PAS 7 replaced the term 'cost method' with 'at cost', following 

the prior deletion of the definition of 'cost method". Based on management assessment, this is not 

expected to have material impact on the financial statements of the Company. 

 

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2027  

 

• PFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements  

The standard replaces PAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and responds to investors' 

demand for better information about companies' financial performance. The new requirements 

include:  

 

o Required totals, subtotals and new categories in the statement of profit or loss  

o Disclosure of management-defined performance measures  

o Guidance on aggregation and disaggregation 

Based on management assessment, this is not expected to have material impact on the financial 

statements of the Company. 

 

PFRS 19, Subsidiaries without Public Accountability  

 

The standard allows eligible entities to elect to apply PFRS 19's reduced disclosure requirements 

while still applying the recognition, measurement and presentation requirements in other PFRS 

accounting standards. The application of the standard is optional for eligible entities. Based on 

management assessment, this is not expected to have material impact on the financial statements of 

the Company. 
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Deferred effectivity  

 

• Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, and PAS 28, Sale or Contribution 

of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture  

The amendments address the conflict between PFRS 10 and PAS 28 in dealing with the loss of 

control of a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture.  

 

The amendments clarify that a full gain or loss is recognized when a transfer to an associate or joint 

venture involves a business as defined in PFRS 3. Any gain or loss resulting from the sale or 

contribution of assets that does not constitute a business, however, is recognized only to the extent 

of unrelated investors' interests in the associate or joint venture.  

 

On January 13, 2016, the Financial and Sustainability Reporting Standards Council deferred the 

original effective date of January 1, 2016, of the said amendments until the IASB completes its 

broader review of the research project on equity accounting that may result in the simplification of 

accounting for such transactions and of other aspects of accounting for associates and joint ventures. 

". Based on management assessment, this is not expected to have material impact on the financial 

statements of the Company. 

 

NOTE 4 -   MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
 

The material accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these financial statements 

are summarized below. These accounting policies information is considered material because of its 

amounts, nature and related amounts. These are material in understanding material information in 

the financial statement. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, 

unless otherwise stated. 

 

Financial Instruments 

 

Date of recognition. The Company recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the 

statements of financial position when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial 

instrument. In the case of a regular way purchase or sale of financial assets, recognition and 

derecognition, as applicable, is done using settlement date accounting. 

 

Initial Recognition and Measurement. Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value, 

which is the fair value of the consideration given (in case of an asset) or received (in case of a 

liability).  The initial measurement of financial instruments, except for those designated at FVTPL, 

includes transaction costs. 

 

“Day 1” Difference. Where the transaction in a non-active market is different from the fair value 

of other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation 

technique whose variables include only data from observable market, the Company recognizes the 

difference between the transaction price and fair value (a “Day 1” difference) in profit or loss. 

 

In cases where there is no observable data on inception, the Company deems the transaction price 

as the best estimate of fair value and recognizes “Day 1” difference in profit or loss when the inputs 

become observable or when the instrument is derecognized. For each transaction, the Company 

determines the appropriate method of recognizing the “Day 1” difference. 

 

Classification 

 

The Company classifies its financial assets at initial recognition under the following categories: (a) 

financial assets at FVTPL, (b) financial assets at amortized cost and (c) financial assets at fair value 

through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).  Financial liabilities, on the other hand, are 
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classified as either financial liabilities at FVTPL or financial liabilities at amortized cost.  The 

classification of a financial instruments largely depends on the Company’s business model and its 

contractual cash flow characteristics. 

 

Financial Assets and Liabilities at FVTPL 

 

Financial assets and liabilities at FVTPL are either classified as held for trading or designated at 

FVTPL.   

 

This category includes equity instruments which the Company had not irrevocably elected to 

classify at FVOCI at initial recognition.  This category includes debt instruments whose cash flows 

are not “solely for payment of principal and interest” assessed at initial recognition of the assets, or 

which are not held within a business model whose objective is either to collect contractual cash 

flows, or to both collect contractual cash flows and sell. 

 

The Company may, at initial recognition, designate a financial asset or financial liability meeting 

the criteria to be classified at amortized cost or at FVOCI, as a financial asset or financial liability 

at FVTPL, if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces accounting mismatch that would arise 

from measuring these assets or liabilities. 

 

After initial recognition, financial assets at FVTPL and held for trading financial liabilities are 

subsequently measured at fair value.  Unrealized gains or losses arising from the fair valuation of 

financial assets at FVTPL and held for trading financial liabilities are recognized in profit or loss. 

 

For financial liabilities designated at FVTPL under the fair value option, the amount of change in 

fair value that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognized in other 

comprehensive income (rather than in profit or loss), unless this creates an accounting mismatch.  

Amounts presented in other comprehensive income are not subsequently transferred to profit or 

loss. 

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company’s financial asset at FVTPL is presented in Note 

7. 

 

Financial Assets at Amortized Cost  

 

Financial assets shall be measured at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met: 

 

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets 

in order to collect contractual cash flows; and  
 
• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are 

solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

After initial recognition, financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured at amortized 

cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for credit losses, if any. Amortized cost is 

calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an 

integral part of the effective interest rate. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the 

financial assets are derecognized and through amortization process.  

 

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company’s cash, receivables from customers, other 

receivables, due from related parties and refundable deposits are classified under this category. 

(Notes 6, 8, 9, 28 and 13) 

 

Cash in banks are demand deposits with banks and earn interest at prevailing bank deposit rates. 

Meanwhile, cash equivalents are short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible 
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into known amounts of cash, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and 

which have a maturity of three (3) months or less at acquisition. 

 

Financial Liabilities at Amortized Cost 

 

Financial liabilities are categorized as financial liabilities at amortized cost when the substance of 

the contractual arrangement results in the Company having an obligation either to deliver cash or 

another financial asset to the holder, or to settle the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed 

amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of its own equity instruments. 

 

These financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less any directly attributable 

transaction costs. After initial recognition, these financial liabilities are subsequently measured at 

amortized cost using the effective interest method.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking into 

account any discount or premium on the issue and fees that are an integral part of the effective 

interest rate. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized 

or through the amortization process. 

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company’s payable to customers, payable to clearing 

house, other payables and loans payable are classified under this category (Notes 14, 15, 16 and 

18). 

 

Reclassification 

 

The Company reclassifies its financial assets when, and only when, it changes its business model 

for managing those financial assets.  The reclassification is applied prospectively from the first day 

of the first reporting period following the change in the business model (reclassification date). 

  

For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at amortized cost category to financial 

assets at FVTPL, any gain or loss arising from the difference between the previous amortized cost 

of the financial asset and fair value is recognized in profit or loss. 

  

For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at amortized cost category to financial 

assets at FVOCI, any gain or loss arising from a difference between the previous amortized cost of 

the financial asset and fair value is recognized in Other Comprehensive Income (OCI). 

 

For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVTPL category to financial assets at 

amortized cost, its fair value at the reclassification date becomes its new gross carrying amount. 

  

For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVOCI category to financial assets at 

amortized cost, any gain or loss previously recognized in OCI shall be recognize in profit or loss.  

 

For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVTPL category to financial assets at 

FVOCI, its fair value at the reclassification date becomes its new gross carrying amount.  

Meanwhile, for a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVOCI category to 

financial assets at FVTPL, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other 

comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment 

at the reclassification date. 

 

Impairment of Financial Assets 

 

The Company records an allowance for “expected credit loss” (ECL). ECL is based on the 

difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash 

flows that the Company expects to receive. The difference is then discounted at an approximation 

to the asset’s original effective interest rate.  
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For receivables from customers, the Company has applied the provision of SRC Rule 52.1.11 and 

Risk Based Capital Adequacy.  The Company’s Credit Losses was computed based on the 

classification, credit loss rate and basis specified in SRC Rule No. 52.1.11. In 2023, section 

52.1.11.2 and 52.1.11.3 was amended through SEC Memorandum Circular No. 11, Series of 2023. 

 

For debt instruments measured at amortized cost and FVOCI, the ECL is based on the 12-month 

ECL, which pertains to the portion of lifetime ECLs that result from default events on a financial 

instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.  However, when there has 

been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the allowance will be based on the 

lifetime ECL.  When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased 

significantly since initial recognition, the Company compares the risk of a default occurring on the 

financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial 

instrument as at the date of initial recognition and consider reasonable and supportable information, 

that is available without undue cost or effort, that is indicative of significant increases in credit risk 

since initial recognition. 

 

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities 

 

Financial Assets 

 

A financial asset (or where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 

financial assets) is derecognized when:  

 

• the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired;  
 

• the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the financial asset, but has assumed 

an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-

through” arrangement; or 
 
• the Company has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the financial asset and either 

(a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or  

(b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, 

but has transferred control of the asset. 

 

When the Company has transferred its right to receive cash flows from a financial asset or has 

entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all 

the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset nor transferred control of the financial 

asset, the financial asset is recognized to the extent of the Company’s continuing involvement in 

the financial asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred 

financial asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the financial asset and 

the maximum amount of consideration that the Company could be required to repay. 

 

Financial Liabilities 

 

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled 

or has expired.  When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 

substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an 

exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition 

of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the 

statements of comprehensive income. 

 

A modification is considered substantial if the present value of the cash flows under the new terms, 

including net fees paid or received and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is 

different by at least 10% from the discounted present value of remaining cash flows of the original 

liability. 
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The fair value of the modified financial liability is determined based on its expected cash flows, 

discounted using the interest rate at which the Company could raise debt with similar terms and 

conditions in the market.  The difference between the carrying value of the original liability and fair 

value of the new liability is recognized in the statements of comprehensive income. 

 

On the other hand, if the difference does not meet the 10% threshold, the original debt is not 

extinguished but merely modified.  In such case, the carrying amount is adjusted by the costs or 

fees paid or received in the restructuring. 

 

Offsetting of Financial Assets and Liabilities 

 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statements of 

financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized 

amounts and there is intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability 

simultaneously.  This is not generally the case with master netting agreements, and the related assets 

and liabilities are presented gross in the statements of financial position. 

 

Classification of Financial Instrument between Liability and Equity 

 

A financial instrument is classified as liability if it provides for a contractual obligation to: 

 

• Deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; 

 

• Exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are 

potentially unfavorable to the Company; or 

 

• Satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial 

asset for a fixed number of own equity shares. 

 

If the Company does not have an unconditional right to avoid delivering cash or another financial 

asset to settle its contractual obligation, the obligation meets the definition of a financial liability. 

 

Prepayments and Other Current Assets 

 

Prepayments represent expenses not yet incurred but already paid in cash. Other current assets 

pertain to tax refund and input VAT. Prepayments and other current assets are stated in the 

statements of financial position at cost less any portion that has already been consumed or that has 

already expired. 

 

Property and Equipment 

 

Property and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in the production or supply of goods 

or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes, and are expected to be used during 

more than one period.  

 

Items of property and equipment are initially measured at cost. Such cost includes purchase price 

and all incidental costs necessary to bring the asset to its location and condition. Subsequent to 

initial recognition, items of property and equipment are measured in the statement of financial 

position at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

Depreciation, which is computed on a straight-line basis, is recognized so as to allocate the cost of 

assets less their residual values over their estimated useful lives. 

 

If there is an indication that there has been a significant change in useful life or residual value of an 

asset, the depreciation of that asset is revised prospectively to reflect the new expectations. 
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When assets are sold, retired or otherwise disposed of, their costs and related accumulated 

depreciation and impairment losses, if any, are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain 

or loss is reflected in profit or loss for the period. 

 

Intangible Assets 

 

Intangible asset represents trading right. This is initially measured at cost and is presented in the 

statement of financial position at cost less accumulated amortization and any accumulated 

impairment losses.  

 

Trading right is the result of the conversion plan to preserve the Company’s access to the trading 

facilities and for it to continue to transact business at the PSE.  

 

Trading right is initially measured at cost and are subsequently measured at cost less any 

accumulated impairment loss. The trading right is an intangible asset to be regarded as having an 

indefinite useful life as there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which this asset is expected 

to generate net cash inflows for the Company. 

Trading right is not amortized but reviewed each year to determine whether events and 

circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful life assessment for the asset. The Company 

tests the asset for impairment by comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable amount, and 

recognizing any excess of the carrying amount over the recoverable amount as an impairment loss. 

 

When assets are sold, retired or otherwise disposed of, their cost and related accumulated 

amortization and impairment losses, if any, are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain 

or loss is reflected in profit or loss for the period. 

 

Impairment of Non- Financial Assets  

 

At each reporting date, the carrying amount of the Company’s non-financial assets are reviewed to 

determine whether there is any indication of impairment loss. If there is an indication of possible 

impairment, the recoverable amount of any affected asset (or group of related assets) is estimated 

and compared with its carrying amount.  If estimated recoverable amount is lower, the carrying 

amount is reduced to its estimated recoverable amount, and an impairment loss is recognized 

immediately in profit and loss 

 

Any impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit 

(CGU) exceeds its net recoverable amount. A CGU is the smallest identifiable asset group that 

generates cash flows that are largely independent from other assets of the Company. Impairment 

losses are recognized in profit or loss in the period incurred. 

 

The net recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use or its fair value less costs to 

sell. Value in use is the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from an asset 

while fair value less cost to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length 

transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties less costs of disposal. In assessing value in 

use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present values using a pre-tax discount 

rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 

asset. 

 

Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications 

that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a 

change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed 

only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 

have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss has been 

recognized. 
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Other Current Liabilities 

 

Other current liabilities include government taxes payable and statutory payables. These are 

presented in the statement of financial position at undiscounted amounts. 

 

Share Capital  

 

Share capital represents the total par value of the ordinary shares issued. 

 

Equity instruments are measured at the fair value of the cash or other consideration received or 

receivable, net of the direct costs of issuing the equity instruments. 

 

The difference between the consideration received and the par value of the shares issued is credited 

to share premium. 
 
Retained Earnings 
 
Retained earnings include income earned in current and prior periods net of any dividend 

declaration, effects of changes in accounting policy and prior period adjustments. 

 
Appropriated Retained Earnings 
 

Appropriated retained earnings pertains to the restricted portion which is intended for the resource 

fund in compliance with SRC rule 49.1 (B). Unappropriated retained earnings represent the portion 

which can be declared as dividends to shareholders. 

 
Accumulated Deficits 
 
Accumulated deficits represent accumulated losses incurred by the Company. It includes effect of 
changes in accounting policy as may be required by the standard’s transitional provisions and effect 
of correction of prior period errors. 
 

Reserves 

 

Other components of equity comprise of items of income and expense that are not recognized in 

profit or loss for the year. Other Comprehensive Income pertains to cumulative remeasurement 

gains (losses) on net retirement asset or liability. 

 

Revenue  

 
Revenue recognition 
 
Revenue with customers is recognized when the performance obligation in the contract has been 

satisfied, either at a point in time or over time. Revenue is recognized over time if one of the 

following criteria is met (a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits as the 

Company perform its obligations; (b) the Company's performance creates or enhances an asset that 

the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or (c) the Company's performance does 

not create an asset with an alternative use to the Company and the Company has an enforceable 

right to payment for performance completed to date. Otherwise, revenue is recognized at a point in 

time  

 

The Company also assesses its revenue arrangements to determine if it is acting as a principal or as 

an agent. The Company has assessed that it acts as agent in its brokerage transactions. The Company 

acts as a principal in its income from other sources.  
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Commission 

 

Commissions on brokerage transactions are recorded on a trade date basis as trade transactions 

occur. 

 

Other income 

 

Other income are recognized when earned. 

 

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met for other revenues outside the scope of 

PFRS Accounting Standards: 

 

Dividend income  

 

Dividend income is recognized when the Company's right to receive the payment is established, 

provided that it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the company and the amount of 

income can be measured reliably. 

 

Trading Gains or Losses on Financial Assets at FVTPL  

 

Trading gains or losses on financial assets at FVTPL include all gains and losses from changes in 

fair value and disposal of financial assets at FVTPL. Unrealized gains or losses are recognized in 

profit or loss upon remeasurement of the financial assets at FVTPL at each reporting date. Gains or 

losses from sale of financial assets at FVTPL. are recognized in profit or loss upon confirmation of 

trade deals.  

 
Realized Gain (loss) on financial assets 
 
Income (loss) is recognized when the ownership of the securities is transferred to the buyer (at an 
amount equal to the excess of selling price over the carrying amount of securities). 
 
Unrealized Gain (loss) on financial assets 
 
Income (loss) is recognized as a result of year-end mark-to-mark valuation of securities at FVTPL. 
 

Interest income 

 

Interest Income is recognized in profit or loss as it accrues, considering the effective yield of the 

assets. 
 
Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) 
 

OCI pertains to the remeasurement gains (losses) on net retirement asset or liability. 

 

Expenses 

 

Expenses are decreases in economic benefits in the form of decreases in assets or increase in 

liabilities that result in decreases in equity, other than those relating to distributions to equity 

participants.  Expenses are generally recognized when the services are received or when the 

expenses are incurred. 

 
Direct costs 
 
Direct costs are expenses incurred that are associated with services rendered which includes salaries 

and employee benefits and other expenses directly associated with the cost of service.   
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Operating expense 

 

Operating expenses represent expenses such as professional fees, salaries and wages, directors’ 

fees, and allowance, condominium dues, bank charges, depreciation, taxes and licenses, 13th month 

pay and other benefits, repairs and maintenance, employees’ welfare, insurance, SSS, PHIC, HDMF 

and other contributions, advertising and promotions, fines and penalties, credit losses, subscription 

and periodicals, fringe benefit tax, documentary stamp tax and miscellaneous that cannot be 

associated directly to the services rendered. 

 

Borrowing cost 

 

Borrowing costs include interest and other charges related to borrowing arrangements. 

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 

qualifying assets are added to the cost of the assets until such time as the assets are substantially 

ready for their intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial 

period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,    

  

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their 

expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization. 

  

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
Income Tax 
 
Income tax expense includes current tax expense and deferred tax expense. 

 

Current Tax. Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 

from or paid to the tax authority. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those 

that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.  

 

Deferred Tax. Deferred tax is provided on all temporary differences at the reporting date between 

the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting  

 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 

recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward benefits of unused tax credits 

from excess minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over the regular corporate income tax (RCIT) 

and unused net operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable that taxable 

income will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and carryforwards of 

unused MCIT and NOLCO can be utilized.  

 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the 

extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable income will be available to allow all or 

part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each 

reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable 

income will allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered. 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are applicable to the year when 

the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted 

or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

 

Most changes in deferred tax assets or deferred tax liabilities are recognized as a component of tax 

expense in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in OCI or directly 

in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognized in OCI or directly in equity, respectively. 
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Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to offset 

current tax assets against current tax liabilities and deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity 

and the same tax authority. 
 
Employee Benefits 

 

Short-term benefits 

 

Short-term benefits given by the Company to its employees include salaries and wages, 

compensated absences, 13th month pay, employer share contributions and other de minimis 

benefits, among others.  

 

These are recognized as expense in the period the employees render services to the Company. 

 

Retirement Benefits 

 

The Company does not have an established retirement plan and only conforms to the minimum 

regulatory benefit under the Retirement Pay Law (Republic Act No. 7641).  The retirement benefit 

costs comprise of the service cost, net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset and 

remeasurements of net defined benefit liability or asset. 

 

Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on non-

routine settlements are recognized as expense in profit or loss. Past service costs are recognized 

when plan amendment or curtailment occurs. These amounts are calculated periodically by 

independent qualified actuaries. 

 

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is the change during the period in the net 

defined benefit liability or asset that arises from the passage of time which is determined by 

applying the discount rate based on government bonds to the net defined benefit liability or asset. 

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is recognized as expense or income in profit 

or loss. 

 

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, difference between return on plan assets 

and interest income (calculated as part of the net interest) and any change in the effect of the asset 

ceiling (excluding net interest on defined benefit liability) are recognized immediately in other 

comprehensive income (loss) in the period in which they arise. Remeasurements are not reclassified 

to profit or loss in subsequent periods. 

 
Related Parties 
 
Related party transactions are transfer of resources, services or obligations between the Company 

and its related parties, regardless whether a price is charged. Transactions between related parties 

are accounted for at arm’s length prices or on terms similar to those offered to non-related parties 

in an economically comparable market. 

 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise 

significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. These 

include: (a) individuals owning, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control 

or are controlled by, or under common control with the Company; (b) associates; (c) individuals 

owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the investee that gives them 

significant influence over the Company and close members of the family of any such individual; 

and (d) the Company’s funded retirement plan. 

 

In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the 

relationship, and not merely the legal form. 
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Leases      
 
A lease is a contract that conveys the right to use an identified asset for a period of time in exchange 

for a consideration.  

  

Determination as to whether a contract is, or contains, a lease is made at the inception of the lease.    

Accordingly, the Company assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are: 

  

• the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract 

or implicitly specified by being identified at the time the asset is made available to the 

lessee; 

• the lessee has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the 

identified asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope 

of the contract; and, 

• the lessee has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use.  

The lessee assesses whether it has the right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’ the asset 

is used throughout the period of use. 

 

Company as Lessee 

 

At lease commencement date, the Company recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability in 

the statement of financial position.  The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of 

the lease payments, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily 

available or the Company’s incremental borrowing rate.  Lease payments include fixed payments 

(including in-substance fixed), variable lease payments based on an index or rate, amounts expected 

to be payable under a residual value guarantee and payments arising from options (either renewal 

or termination) reasonably certain to be exercised.  Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability 

is increased for interest incurred and reduced for lease payments made. 

  

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at the amount of lease liability adjusted for any initial 

direct costs incurred by the lessee, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the 

end of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date (net of 

any incentives received).  Subsequently, the Company depreciates the right-of-use asset on a 

straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the end of the lease term.  The Company 

also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicators exist. 

  

 The Company has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the 

practical expedients.  Instead of recognizing a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in 

relation to these are recognized as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease 

term. 

 

Foreign Currency Transaction 

 

Foreign currency transactions are initially recognized using the spot rate of exchange at the date of 

the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currency are 

translated into the functional currency using the closing rate as of the reporting date.  Gains and 

losses arising from foreign currency transactions and remeasurement of monetary assets and 

liabilities are recognized immediately in profit and loss. 

 

Provisions and contingencies 

 

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 

result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will 

be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 

obligation. Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present 
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obligation, based on the most reliable evidence available at the end of the reporting period, 

including risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation. If the effect of the time 

value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows 

at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where 

appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the 

provision due to the passage of time is recognized as an interest expense. Provisions are reviewed 

at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. 

 

Contingent assets and liabilities are not recognized in the separate financial statements but are 

disclosed in the notes to separate financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of 

resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets are not recognized in the 

separate financial statements but are disclosed in the notes to separate statements of financial 

position when an inflow of economic benefits is probable 

 

Changes in accounting policies, change in accounting estimates and correction of prior period 

errors 

 

The Company applies changes in accounting policy if the change is required by the accounting 

standards or in order to provide reliable and more relevant information about the effects of 

transactions, other events or conditions on the Company’s financial statements. Changes in 

accounting policy brought about by new accounting standards are accounted for in accordance with 

the specific transitional provision of the standards. All other changes in accounting policy are 

accounted for retrospectively. 

 

Changes in accounting estimates is recognized prospectively by reflecting it in the profit and loss 

in the period of the change if the change affects that period only or the period of the change and 

future periods if the change affects both. 

 

Prior period errors are omissions from, and misstatements in, the Company’s financial statements 

for one or more prior periods arising from a failure to use, or misuse of, reliable information that 

was available when financial statements for those periods were authorized for issue and could 

reasonably be expected to have been obtained and taken into account in the preparation and 

presentation of those financial statements. 

 

To the extent practicable, the Company corrects a material prior period error retrospectively in the 

first financial statements authorized for issue after its discovery by restating the comparative 

amounts for the prior period(s) presented in which the error occurred, or if the error occurred before 

the earliest prior period presented, restating the opening balances of assets, liabilities and equity for 

period presented. 

 

When it is impracticable to determine the period-specific effects of an error on comparative 

information for one or more prior periods presented, the Company restates the opening balances of 

assets, liabilities and equity for the earliest period for which retrospective restatement is practicable. 

 

Subsequent events 

 

Subsequent events that provide additional information about conditions existing at period end 

(adjusting events) are recognized in the financial statements.  Subsequent events that provide 

additional information about conditions existing after period end (non-adjusting events) are 

disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 
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NOTE 5 -   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES 

 

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting 

Standards (PFRS) Accounting Standards requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions 

that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. The 

judgements and accounting estimates and assumptions used in the financial statements are based 

upon management evaluation of relevant facts and circumstances as at the reporting date. While the 

Company believes that the assumptions are reasonable and appropriate. Future events may occur 

which will cause the assumptions used in arriving at the estimates to change.  The effects of changes 

in estimates will be reflected in the financial statements as they become reasonably determinable. 

 

The accounting estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions 

to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any 

future period affected. 

 

The following are the significant judgement, accounting estimates and assumptions by the 

Company: 

 

Judgment 

 

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, management has made the following 

judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the 

amounts recognized in the financial statements: 

 

Assessment of Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets 

 

The Company determines whether there are indicators of impairment of the Company’s non-

financial assets. Indicators of impairment include significant change in usage, decline in the asset’s 

fair value or underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future results.  

Determining the fair value requires the determination of future cash flows and future economic 

benefits expected to be generated from the continued use and ultimate disposition of such assets.  It 

requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions that can materially affect the financial 

statements.  Future events could be used by management to conclude that these assets are impaired.  

Any resulting impairment loss could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial 

position and financial performance.  The preparation of the estimated future cash flows and 

economic benefits involves significant judgments and estimation. 

  

No impairment loss on non-financial assets was recognized in the Company’s financial statements 

in either 2024 or 2023. 

 

Determination of ECL on financial assets 

 

The Company uses a provision matrix to calculate ECL for financial assets. The provision rates are 

based on the provision of SRC Rule 52.1.11 and Risk Based Capital Adequacy.  The Company’s 

Credit Losses was computed based on the classification, credit loss rate and basis specified in SRC 

Rule No. 52.1.11. In 2023, section 52.1.11.2 and 52.1.11.3 was amended through SEC 

Memorandum Circular No. 11, Series of 2023. 

 

Details about the ECL on the Company’s trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note 30. 

 

Fair Value Measurement for Financial Assets at FVTPL 

 

The Company carries certain financial assets at fair value which requires judgment and extensive 

use of accounting estimates. In cases when active market quotes are not available, fair value is 

determined by reference to the current market value of another financial instrument which is 
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substantially the same or is calculated based on the expected cash flow of the underlying net base 

of the instrument or other more appropriated valuation techniques (Note 7).  

 

The amount of changes in fair value would differ if the Company had utilized different valuation 

methods and assumptions. Any change in fair value of the financial assets and financial liabilities 

would affect profit. The fair value of derivative financial instruments that are not quoted in an active 

market is determined through valuation techniques using the net present value computation. 

 

The carrying values of the Group’s trading and investment securities and the amounts of fair value 

changes recognized on those financial assets are disclosed in Note 7. 

 

Estimates 

 

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 

uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material 

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next reporting period: 

 

Estimation of Allowance for Credit Losses 

 

The measurement of the allowance for Credit Losses on financial assets at amortized cost is an 

area that requires the use of significant assumptions about the future economic conditions and 

credit behavior (e.g., likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting losses).  Explanation of 

the inputs, assumptions and estimation used in measuring Credit Losses is further detailed in Note 

30. 

 

Estimating useful lives of property and equipment  

 

The Company estimates the useful lives of its property and equipment based on the period over 

which these assets are expected to be available for use. The estimated useful lives of these assets 

and residual values are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, only if there is a significant change 

in the asset or how it is used. 

 

The following estimated useful lives are used for the depreciation of property and equipment: 

 

Description   Useful Lives 

Condominium unit and improvements  20 years 

Furniture and fixtures    3-5 years 

Computer systems and software  3-5 years 

Transportation equipment  3 years 

 

There were no changes in the estimated useful lives of the Company’s property and equipment for 

the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. 

 

Determination of Realizable Amount of Deferred Tax Assets 

 

The Company reviews its deferred tax assets at the end of each reporting period and reduces the 

carrying amount to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 

available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  Management assessed that the 

deferred tax assets recognized as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 will be fully utilized in the 

coming years.  The carrying value of deferred tax assets as of those dates is disclosed in Note 27. 
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NOTE 6 -   CASH 

 

This account consists of: 

 

 2024 
  2023 

Cash on hand ₱ 18,100  ₱ 18,100 

Cash in banks  104,861,340   104,259,669 
 ₱ 104,879,440  ₱ 104,277,769 

 

Cash in banks generally earns interest at rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Finance income 

recognized in the Statements of Comprehensive Income amounted to ₱353,287 and ₱357,829 in 

2024 and 2023, respectively (Note 22). 

 

Included in 2024 Cash in banks is USD4661 translated to Philippine Peso amounting to ₱270,381 

at an exchange rate of ₱58.014 to a USD. 

 

Included in 2023 Cash in banks is USD5,983 translated to Philippine Peso amounting to ₱332,443 

at an exchange rate of ₱55.567 to a USD. 

 

Unrealized gain (loss) on USD-denominated bank deposit amounts to a gain of ₱11,631 and a loss 

of ₱31,323 for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively (Note 22).  

 

In compliance with Securities Regulation Code (SRC) Rule 49.2-1, the Company maintains a 

special reserve bank account with Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation amounting to 

₱100,119,746 and ₱100,185,442 as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively for the exclusive 

benefit of its customers. The Company’s reserve requirement is determined on SEC’s prescribed 

computations. As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the Company’s reserve accounts are adequate 

to cover its reserve requirements. 

 

NOTE 7 -   FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 

 

This account consists of: 

 

 2024  2023 

Equities outside PHISIX ₱ 311,354  ₱ 450,395 

Equities in PHISIX   195,170    545,878 
 ₱ 506,524  ₱ 996,273 

 

The movement in the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is summarized below: 

 

 2024  2023 

Balance at beginning of year ₱ 996,273  ₱ 613,553 

Additions   5,463,265   426,226,821 

Disposals  (5,926,165)   (425,817,295) 

Fair value adjustments  (26,849)   (26,806) 

Balance at end of year ₱ 506,524  ₱ 996,273 

 

Financial assets at FVTPL represents equity securities held for trading. Fair values are based on the 

quoted market price at the PSE as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 or on the last trading day of each 

year. 

 

The Company recognized gain on sale of FVTPL financial assets amounting to ₱39,221 in 2024 

and loss of ₱48,476 in 2023. This is presented as separate line item in statements of comprehensive 

income.  
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The change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss recognized and 

presented as part of unrealized gain (loss) on financial assets at FVTPL, net, in the statements of 

comprehensive income amounted to a loss of ₱26,849 and ₱26,806 in 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

 

Dividends earned on these investments amount to ₱32,451 and ₱27,619 as at December 31, 2024 

and 2023, respectively. This is presented as separate line item in statements of comprehensive 

income. 

 

NOTE 8 -   RECEIVABLES FROM CUSTOMERS 

 

The security valuation of the debit balances of customers’ accounts are presented below: 

 

 2024  2023 

 Money Balance  

Security 

Valuation-Long  Money Balance  

Security 

Valuation-Long 

Cash accounts            

More than 250% ₱ 29,527  ₱ 271,028  ₱ 197,846  ₱ 9,618,423 

Between 200% to 250%  37   84   2,380   5,729 

Between 150% to 200%  732   1,297   4,350   7,788 

Between 100% to 150%  8,190   9,796   25,517,723   25,533,421 

  38,486   282,205   25,722,299   35,165,361 

Partially secured 

accounts            

Less than 100%  222,200   18,666   23,999,225   23,545,549 

Unsecured accounts  7,393,363   -   7,392,445   - 

  7,615,563   18,666   31,391,670   23,545,549 

Less: Allowance for 

credit losses  (7,602,893)   -   (7,602,846)   - 

 ₱ 51,156  ₱ 300,871  ₱ 49,511,123  ₱ 58,710,910 

 

Receivables from customers are due within two (2) trading days after the consummation of the 

transactions. 

 

Allowance for credit losses on receivables from customers is computed using the formula provided 

by the SRC Rule No. 52.1.11 which forms part of the Risk-Based Capital Adequacy (RBCA) 

Report, see Note 30. 

 

Movements in the allowance for credit losses follow: 
 

     2024   2023 

Balance at January 1  ₱ 7,602,846  ₱ 7,605,539 

Credit losses   47   - 

Recovery of allowance   -   (2,693) 

Balance, December 31  ₱ 7,602,893   ₱ 7,602,846 

 

NOTE 9 -   OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

This account consists of: 

 

 2024  2023 

Advances to officers and employees ₱ 50,184,922  ₱ 30,590,050 

Others  261,601   279,707 
 ₱ 50,446,523  ₱ 30,869,757 
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Advances to officers and employees pertains to interest-bearing short-term salary loan of the 

officers with equal monthly amortizations deducted from salaries and transaction. Total interest 

earned from the advances amounted to ₱171,396 and ₱47,864 in 2024 and 2023, respectively, and 

are presented under Other Income in the statements of comprehensive income. (Note 22) 

 

NOTE 10 -   PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 
 

This account consists of: 

 

 2024  2023 

Prepaid income tax (Note 27) ₱ 3,485,502  ₱ 2,545,431 

Input VAT  540,301   241,136 

Prepaid expenses  498,086   1,309,605 

Creditable withholding vat  5,545   8,312 
 ₱ 4,529,434  ₱ 4,104,484 

 

Input VAT are VAT on purchases of goods and services and the current portion of deferred input 

vat on purchase of capital goods. These are creditable to VAT liability of the Company. 

 

Details of prepaid expenses are as follows: 

 2024  2023 

  
    

Prepaid research fees ₱ 230,497  ₱ 998,522 

Prepaid taxes and licenses  227,109   249,849 

Prepaid insurance  40,480   21,634 

Prepaid rent  -   39,600 
 ₱ 498,086  ₱ 1,309,605 

 

NOTE 11 -   PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

 

A reconciliation of the carrying amounts at the beginning and end of 2024 and 2023, of property 

and equipment is shown below: 

 

2024 

 

Total

Cost

January 1, 2024 ₱   69,406,235 ₱ 18,118,467 ₱ 1,083,170 ₱ 3,934,420 ₱ 92,542,292

Additions                  -         237,287                -          21,429           258,716 

Disposal                  -                   -                  -                  -                      -   

December 31, 2024 ₱   69,406,235 ₱ 18,355,754 ₱ 1,083,170 ₱ 3,955,849 ₱ 92,801,008

Accumulated depreciation

January 1, 2024 ₱   26,154,413 ₱ 16,211,376 ₱ 1,051,404 ₱ 3,685,717 ₱ 47,102,910

Depreciation     3,294,555 718,600 23,824 251,489        4,288,468 

Disposals                  -                   -                  -                  -                      -   

December 31, 2024 ₱ 29,448,968 ₱ 16,929,976 ₱ 1,075,228 ₱ 3,937,206 ₱ 51,391,378

Carrying amount

December 31, 2024 ₱   39,957,267 ₱    1,425,778 ₱          7,942 ₱        18,643 ₱      41,409,630 

Carrying amount

December 31, 2023 ₱   43,251,822 ₱    1,907,091 ₱        31,766 ₱      248,703 ₱      45,439,382 

Computer 

systems and 

software

Transportation 

Equipment

Condominium 

and 

improvements

Furniture and 

Fixtures 
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2023 

 

Total

Cost

January 1, 2023 ₱   69,406,235 ₱ 18,118,467 ₱ 1,083,170 ₱ 3,934,420 ₱ 92,542,292

Additions                  -                  -                  -                  -                      -   

Disposal                  -                  -                  -                  -                      -   

December 31, 2023 ₱   69,406,235 ₱ 18,118,467 ₱ 1,083,170 ₱ 3,934,420 ₱ 92,542,292

Accumulated depreciation

January 1, 2023 ₱   22,769,361 ₱ 14,630,353 ₱ 1,027,579 ₱ 3,417,860 ₱ 41,845,153

Depreciation     3,385,052 1,581,023 23,825 267,857 5,257,757

Disposals                  -                  -                  -                  -                      -   

December 31, 2023 ₱ 26,154,413 ₱ 16,211,376 ₱ 1,051,404 ₱ 3,685,717 ₱ 47,102,910

Carrying amount

December 31, 2023 ₱   43,251,822 ₱   1,907,091 ₱        31,766 ₱      248,703 ₱      45,439,382 

Carrying amount

December 31, 2022 ₱   46,636,874 ₱   3,488,114 ₱        55,591 ₱      516,560 ₱      50,697,139 

Transportation 

Equipment

Condominium 

and 

improvements

Furniture and 

Fixtures 

Computer 

systems and 

software

 
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, management believes that there is no impairment loss on its 

property and equipment. 
 

The Company has pledged its condominium having a carrying amount of ₱39,957,268 and 

₱43,251,822 as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively to secure loan (Note 18). 

 

The amount of depreciation is presented in the statements of comprehensive income under direct 

costs and operating expenses (Notes 21 and 24). 

 

NOTE 12 -   TRADING RIGHT 

 

Trading right represents the Company’s privilege in trading securities in the PSE floor. In 

compliance with Section 8, Article III of the Amended By-Laws of the Exchange, the Company’s 

trading right (previously the exchange membership seat) is pledged at its full value to the PSE to 

secure the payments of all debts due to the Exchange and to other trading participants of the 

Exchange arising out of or in connection with the present or future contracts relating to securities 

and in compliance with Section 7, Article II of the Rules Governing Trading Rights and Trading 

Participants, to secure the payment of all debts and claims due to the clients of the Company, the 

Government, the Exchange and the other trading participants of the Exchange and to the Securities 

Clearing Corporation of the Philippines. 
 

On August 8, 2001, due to conversion of Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) into a stock corporation, 

the Company, as its member, received 50,000 shares of stock of PSE with par value of ₱1 per share 

or a total value of ₱50,000, but with a book value of ₱160 per share or a total book value of 

₱8,000,000 as determined at that time of demutualization of PSE. Moreover, the Company has 

retained its trading in the PSE with acquisition cost of ₱4,300,000. As part of the said 

demutualization, the PSE has approved the trading of the said share acquired by its stockholders; 

hence the Company has been allowed to sell its PSE shares of stock. 
 

In 2003, the PSE seat was split into Marketable Securities and Trading Rights amounting to 

₱2,408,000 and ₱1,892,000 respectively, in accordance with PSE Memo No. 2004-065. During the 

same year, the Company sold the Marketable Securities portion of its PSE shares of stock or 22,900 

shares. 
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The carrying value for trading right amounted to ₱1,892,000 as at December 31, 2024 and 2023. 

The last transacted price for the sale of trading right in the PSE was Eight Million Pesos 

(₱8,000,000) as approved by the PSE Board of Directors on November 16, 2022. Considering that 

the market value is significantly higher than the carrying amount, no impairment loss shall be 

recognized for this account. 

 

The movement in the trading right is summarized below: 

 

 2024  2023 

Balance at beginning of year ₱ 1,892,000  ₱ 1,892,000 

Additions   -   - 

Disposals  -   - 

Balance at end of year ₱ 1,892,000  ₱ 1,892,000 

 

NOTE 13 -   REFUNDABLE DEPOSITS 

 

This account consists of: 

 

 2024  2023 

Rental deposits (Note 29) ₱ 45,990  ₱ 45,990 

Clearing and Trade Guaranty Fund  8,632,916   7,290,236 

Deposit to supplier   1,149,037   1,336,607 

 ₱ 9,827,943  ₱ 8,672,833 

 

Rental deposits pertain to deposits for rental which is refundable at the end of the respective 

agreements. (Note 29) 

 

Clearing and Trade Guaranty Fund (CTGF) which is intended to cover failed trades due to 

member’s liquidity and/or solvency. This is refundable upon cessation of the Company’s business 

and/or termination of Company’s membership with SCCP.  

 

Deposit to suppliers refers to various deposits made by Company to service providers. 

 

NOTE 14 -   PAYABLES TO CUSTOMERS 
 

The payables to customers and its security valuation follow: 
 

 2024  2023 

 
Credit 

Balance  

Security 

Valuation-Long  
Credit 

Balance  
Security 

Valuation-Long 

With money balance ₱ 3,472,513  ₱ 253,526,197  ₱ 25,919,984  ₱ 213,772,927 
Without money balance  -   1,636,057,805   -   729,008,054 

 ₱ 3,472,513  ₱ 1,889,584,002  ₱ 25,919,984  ₱ 942,780,981 

 

Payables to customers are non-interest bearing and are due within two (2) business days after the 

consummation of the transactions. 

 

NOTE 15 -   PAYABLES TO CLEARING HOUSE 

 

The net balance of this account as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 relates to the trading transactions 

made for the last two trading days which have not yet been cleared. The outstanding balance were 

net payable to clearing house amounting to ₱13,225 and ₱26,391,966 in 2024 and 2023, 

respectively 
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NOTE 16 -   OTHER PAYABLES 
 

This account consists of: 

 2024  2023 

 Accrued expenses  ₱ 2,888,897  ₱ 9,365,824 

 Dividends payable   2,084   2,084 

 Miscellaneous payable   405,478   405,479 

 ₱ 3,296,459  ₱ 9,773,387 

Details of accrued expenses are as follows: 
 

 2024  2023 

Research fees ₱  1,469,901  ₱  414,749 

Travel expense   575,404    19,560 

Professional fees   224,500    184,000 

Interest expense   223,115    218,824 

Stock exchange fees   146,222    528,321 

Utilities   63,719    78,908 

Central depository fees   22,729    587,946 

Rent expense   17,626    228,654 

Marketing fees   -      5,162,804 

Others   145,681    1,942,058 

 ₱ 2,888,897  ₱ 9,365,824 

 

Miscellaneous payables pertain to reversal of staled checks of customers.  

 

NOTE 17 -   OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 

 

This account consists of: 

 2024  2023 

 VAT payable  ₱ 639,679  ₱ 1,076,996 

 Withholding taxes   63,252   258,687 

 Stock transaction tax   1,508   337,446 

 ₱ 699,959  ₱ 1,673,129 

 

NOTE 18 -   LOANS PAYABLE 

 

Outstanding balances of the Company’s loans payable are as follows: 

 

 2024  2023 

Current portion ₱ 36,334,838  ₱ 17,062,900 

Non-current portion   25,318,508   31,693,394 

 ₱ 61,653,346  ₱ 48,756,294 

 

Movements in the loans payable follow: 

 2024  2023 

Balance, January 1 ₱ 48,756,294  ₱ 43,553,659 

Proceeds  30,000,000    145,000,000 

Payments  (17,102,948)   (139,797,365) 

Balance, December 31  ₱ 61,653,346  ₱ 48,756,294 

 

In March 2017, the Company entered into loan agreement with BDO Unibank Inc. for 12 years 

which bears annual interest ranging from 4.88% - 7.99%. The interest is payable monthly starting 

March 2017 while the principal is payable monthly starting on March 2022. The loan is secured by 



Salisbury Securities Corporation    Page 27 of 48 

Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

 

 

the Company’s condominium units with a carrying amount of ₱39,957,268 and ₱43,251,822 as at 

December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively (Note 12). 

 

In 2024, the Company entered into a loan agreement of various dates with Rizal Commercial 

Banking Corporation (RCBC) with an interest of 7.75% and has a term of thirty one (31) days.  

 

In 2023, the Company entered into a loan agreement of various dates with Rizal Commercial 

Banking Corporation (RCBC) with an interest of 7.75% and has a term of thirty one (31) days.  

 

Total interest expense charged to operations for the above loan amounted to ₱6,285,126 and 

₱4,082,103 in 2024 and 2023, respectively, and is presented under Finance Cost in the statements 

of comprehensive income.  

 

NOTE 19 -   EQUITY 

 

Share Capital 
 

The Company is authorized to issue Four Million Three Hundred Thousand (4,300,000) ordinary 

shares with par value of seventy pesos (₱ 70) per share. 

 

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company has two (2) shareholders owning more than 100 

shares of the Company’s capital stock. 

 

A reconciliation of the outstanding share capital at the beginning and end of 2024 and 2023 is shown 

below: 

 

2024 

 No. of Shares  Amount 

Outstanding 12/31/2023  4,300,000  ₱ 301,000,000 

Issuance   -   - 

Reacquisition  -   - 

Outstanding 12/31/2024  4,300,000  ₱ 301,000,000 

 

2023 

 No. of Shares  Amount 

Outstanding 12/31/2022  4,300,000  ₱ 301,000,000 

Issuance   -   - 

Reacquisition  -   - 

Outstanding 12/31/2023  4,300,000  ₱ 301,000,000 

 

Minimum Capital Requirement 

 

In a meeting held on October 21, 2010, the SEC issued Resolution No. 489 and 492 granting the 

deferment of the ₱30,000,000 unimpaired paid-in capital requirement of Trading Participants 

effective January 1, 2011 until November 30, 2011 provided that Trading Participants with 

Unimpaired Paid-up Capital falling below ₱30,000,000 shall post a surety bond amounting to 

₱30,000,000 on top of the surety bond of ₱12,000,000 in compliance with SRC Rule 28.1 for the 

same period until securities held and controlled by the Trading Participant shall be recorded under 

the name of the individual clients in the books of the Transfer Agent or in the sub-account with the 

Philippine Depository and Trust Corporation at the option of the client. Compliance with the 

requirement is a condition for the renewal of the Broker Dealer license for the period covering 

January 1, 2011 to December 31, 2013. 
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In compliance with Section 2 of D, Article VII of the amended Market Regulation Rules, which 

was approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 8, 2009, effective 

November 1, 2009, the surety bond, shall be Ten Million Pesos (₱ 10,000,000) for Brokers and 

Two Million Pesos (₱ 2,000,000) for Dealers. 

 

Based on SEC Memorandum Circular No. 16 dated November 11, 2004, starting December 1, 2005, 

every broker dealer is expected to comply with all the requirements of the Risk-Based Capital 

Adequacy (RBCA) rules. As of December 31, 2005, the RCBA report is prepared based on the 

guidelines which cover the following risks: (a) position of market risks, (b) credit risks such as 

counterparty, settlement, large exposure, and margin financing risks, and (c) operation risk.  

 

The Company monitors capital on the basis of RBCA Ratio and Net Liquid Capital (NLC). RBCA 

requirement is the minimum level of capital that has to be maintained by firms which are licensed, 

or securing a broker dealer license, taking into consideration the firms size, complexity and business 

risk. RBC ratio is the quotient of the NLC and the sum of the requirements for operation risk, credit 

risk, and position or market risk.  

 

NLC, on the other hand, represents the equity eligible for NLC adjusted for non-allowable current 

and non-current assets as described under the Circular. 

 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends 

paid to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.  

 

Under the guidelines set-out by the SEC, all registered brokers dealers should maintain the 

following RBCA and NLC requirements: 

 

A. RBCA ratio of greater than or equal to 1.1; 

 

As at December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company’s RBCA ratio of 1.50 and 1.35, 

respectively, is in compliance with the minimum capital requirement set out by the RBCA 

framework.  

 

B. NLC should be at least ₱5,000,000 or 5% of aggregate indebtedness, whichever is higher; 

 

C. A dealer who deals only with proprietary shares and does not keep shares in its custody 

shall maintain a NLC of ₱2,500,000 or 2.5% of aggregate indebtedness, whichever is 

higher; 

 

D. No broker dealer shall permit its aggregate indebtedness to exceed 2,000% of its NLC. 

 

The Company’s NLC amount to ₱ 61,775,729 and ₱72,591,817 as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, 

respectively, which is more than 5% of the Company’s aggregate indebtedness. As at December 

31, 2023 and 2022, the Company is in compliant with items A to D as prescribed by Securities and 

Exchange Commission (SEC). 

 

On May 28, 2009, the SEC approved PSE’s Rules Governing Trading Rights and Trading 

Participants which provides among other the following provisions: 

 

a. Trading participants should have a minimum unimpaired paid-up capital (defined as the trading 

participant’s total paid up capital less any deficiency in the retained earnings account) of 

₱20,000,000 effective December 31, 2009, provided further that effective December 31, 2010 

and onwards, the minimum unimpaired paid-up capital shall be ₱30,000,000; and 
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b. Each trading participant shall pledge its trading right to the extent of its full value to secure the 

payment of all debts and claims due to the trading participant, the government, PSE and to other 

trading participants of the PSE and to the Securities Clearing Corporation of the Philippines. 

 

On August 8, 2023, the SEC approved amendments to the 2015 Implementing Rules and 

Regulations of the Securities Regulation Code (the “2015 SRC Rules”) and SEC Memorandum 

Circular (MC) No. 16, series of 2004, relative to the settlement cycle from T+3 to T+2.  

 

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company is in compliance with PSE’s Rules Governing 

Trading Rights and Trading Participants. 

 

Equity Reserves 

 

The reconciliation of items of other comprehensive income presented under Equity Reserves in the 

statements of changes in equity are shown below: 

 

  2024  2023 

Balance at beginning of year  ₱ 532,205   ₱ 2,612,339 

       

Actuarial gain (loss)   -   709,607 

Tax expense   -   (177,402) 

Other comprehensive income after tax   -   532,205 

Adjustment of taxes of prior period (Note 26)   -   - 

Balance at end of year  ₱ 532,205   ₱ 532,205 

 

Accumulated Deficit 
 

SRC Rule 49.1 (B) Reserve Fund of SEC Memorandum Circular, requires that every broker dealer 

shall annually appropriate a certain minimum percentage of its audited profit after tax and transfer 

the same to appropriated retained earnings. Appropriation shall be 30%, 20% and 10% of profit 

after tax for broker dealers with unimpaired paid-up capital of ₱ 10M to ₱ 30M, ₱ 30M to ₱ 50M 

and above ₱ 50M, respectively.  

 

Due to continuous losses suffered by the Company, wherein its profit after tax of prior years has 

been totally exhausted, the appropriation of ₱2,278,733 from prior years was reversed in 2022. 

 

NOTE 20 -   COMMISSION REVENUES 
 

The Company has recognized commission revenue through stocks transaction of ₱74,710,241 and 

₱175,484,966 in 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 

NOTE 21 -   DIRECT COSTS 
 

Details of the Company’s direct costs are as follows: 

 

 2024  2023 

Marketing Fee ₱ 41,263,226  ₱  133,487,829  

Research fee   22,152,601    22,824,846  

Salaries and wages  11,332,176    13,668,396  

Stock exchange dues   9,548,895    9,682,938  

Depreciation (Note 12)  3,792,070    4,670,316  

13th month pay and other benefits  1,538,878    2,253,455  

Retirement expense (Note 25)  837,035    766,380  

SSS PHIC HDMF and other contributions  878,340    833,296  
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Communication expense   763,792    771,023  

Central depository fee  748,192   647,443 

Utilities   683,844   633,552 

Terminal fee   696,860   647,523 

Transportation and travel  722,453    1,116,068  

Rent (Note 28)  519,989    858,701  

Employees’ welfare  457,866   368,570 

Office Supplies   282,130   254,871 

PSE and PASBDI membership fees   54,000   54,000 

Photocopies  57,810   32,443 

Settlement cost  35,333   25,755 

Representation expense   20,062   235,568 

Meetings and conferences   18,329   95,155 

 ₱ 96,403,881  ₱ 193,928,128 

 

NOTE 22 -   OTHER INCOME 
 

Details of the Company’s other income are as follows: 
 

 2024  2023 

Interest income (Note 6 and 10) ₱ 524,683  ₱ 407,287 

Unrealized foreign exchange gain (loss) (Note 6)  11,631   - 

Processing fee  64,250   84,200 

Recovery of allowance for credit losses  -   2,694 

 ₱ 600,564  ₱ 494,181 

 

Interest income consists of interest income from bank deposits and interest charged to advances to 

employees and officers amounting to ₱353,287 and ₱171,396 in 2024 and ₱359,423 and ₱47,864 

in 2023, respectively. 

 

NOTE 23 -   OTHER LOSSES 

 

This account pertains to unrealized foreign exchange loss amounting to ₱nil and 31,323 in 2024 

and 2023, respectively.  

 

NOTE 24 -   OPERATING EXPENSES 

 

Details of the Company’s operating expense are as follows: 

 

 2024  2023 

Salaries and wages  ₱ 1,585,154    1,969,082  

Fines and penalties  1,122,245   3,283,065 

Condominium dues  1,110,918    1,083,267  

Bank charges   1,035,159    965,134  

Taxes and licenses  781,540    1,338,754  

Depreciation (Note 12)  496,398    587,440  

Repairs and maintenance   489,112   651,752 

Professional fees   485,000    488,354  

13th month pay and other benefits   224,465   430,444 

SSS PHIC HDMF and other contributions   169,985   199,132 

Insurance   140,639   113,896 

Employees’ welfare   98,467   100,791 

Subscription and periodicals  30,290   20,034 

Gas and oil  6,458   6,798 
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Credit losses  47   - 

Miscellaneous expense  41,555   81,188 

 ₱ 7,817,432  ₱ 11,319,131 

 

NOTE 25 -   DEPRECIATION, EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND RENT 

 

Depreciation, employee benefits and rent are presented as follows: 
 

2024 

  Direct Costs   

Operating 

Expenses   Total 

Depreciation  ₱ 3,792,070   ₱ 496,398  ₱ 4,288,468 

Employee benefits*  15,044,295   2,078,071   17,122,366 

Rent  519,989   -   519,989 

 

*Employee benefits includes salaries and wages, 13th month pay and other benefits, employees’ welfare, 

SSS PHIC HDMF and other contributions and retirement expense 

 

2023 

  Direct Costs   Operating Expenses   Total 

Depreciation  ₱ 4,670,316  ₱ 587,440  ₱ 5,257,756 

Employee benefits*  17,890,097   2,299,449   20,589,546 

Rent  858,701   -   858,701 

 

*Employee benefits includes salaries and wages, 13th month pay and other benefits, employees’ welfare, SSS 

PHIC HDMF and other contributions and retirement expense 

 

NOTE 26 -   EMPLOYEE’S COMPENSATION AND OTHER BENEFITS 
 

Salaries and Employee Benefits Expense 

 

Details of salaries and employee benefits are presented below (Notes 21 and 24). 

 

 2024  2023 

Salaries and wages ₱ 12,917,330  ₱ 15,637,478 

13th month pay and other benefits  1,763,343   2,683,899 

SSS PHIC HDMF and other contributions  1,048,325   1,032,428 

Retirement expense  837,035    766,380  

Employees’ welfare  556,333   469,361 

 ₱ 17,122,366  ₱ 20,589,546 

 

Post-employment Defined Benefit Plan 
 

(a) Characteristics of the Defined Benefit Plan 

 

The Company does not have a formal retirement plan for its employees. Thus, it conducts its 

assessment of the materiality of its retirement cost and retirement liability on the basis of RA 7641. 

The Company provides a retirement equal to 22.5 days’ pay for every year of credited service. The 

regulatory benefit is paid in lump sum upon retirement. 
 

(b) Explanation of Amounts Presented in the Financial Statements 
 

Actuarial valuations are made annually to update the retirement benefit costs and the amount of 

contributions.  All amounts presented below and in the succeeding pages are based on the actuarial 

valuation report obtained from an independent actuary in 2023. 
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The amounts of post-employment defined benefit obligation recognized in the statements of 

financial position are determined as follows: 

 

 2024  2023 

Present value of the obligation ₱ 6,174,086  ₱ 5,337,051 

Fair value of plan assets   -   - 

 ₱ 6,174,086  ₱ 5,337,051 

 

The movements in the present value of the post-employment defined benefit obligation recognized 

in the books is shown below. 
 

 2024  2023 

Balance at beginning of year ₱ 5,337,051  ₱ 5,280,278 

Current service cost   512,542   497,614 

Interest expense  324,493   268,766 

Remeasurements:      

Actuarial losses (gains) arising from:      

     Changes in financial assumptions  -   (266,913) 

     Experience adjustments  -   (423,591) 

     Changes in demographic  -   (19,103) 

Benefits paid  -   - 

Balance at end of year ₱ 6,174,086  ₱ 5,337,051 

 

The Company does not have a formal retirement plan and therefore has no plan assets. 
 

The components of amounts recognized in profit or loss and in other comprehensive income in 

respect of the defined benefit post-employment plan are as follows: 

 

 2024  2023 

Reported in profit or loss:      

  Current service cost ₱ 512,542  ₱ 497,614 

  Net interest expense  324,493   268,766 

 ₱ 837,035  ₱ 766,380 

Reported in other comprehensive income:      

  Actuarial losses (gains) arising  -   - 

     from changes in:      

       Financial assumptions ₱ -  ₱ (266,913) 

       Experience adjustments  -   (423,591) 

       Demographic assumptions  -   (19,103) 

   Return on plan assets (excluding  -   - 

     amounts included in net interest expense)  -   - 

 ₱ 837,035  ₱ (709,607) 
 

Current service cost and net interest expense is presented in the statements of comprehensive 

income as retirement expense under direct costs. 
 

Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income were included within items that will not be 

reclassified subsequently to profit or loss.  

In determining the amounts of the defined benefit post-employment obligation, the following 

significant actuarial assumptions were used: 
 

 2024  2023 

Discount Rates 
6.08%  6.08% 

Future Salary Increase Rates 3.00%  3.00% 
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Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are based on published statistics and mortality 

tables.  The average remaining working lives of an individual retiring at the age of 60 is 8.0. 

 

The valuation results are based on the employees’ data as of the valuation dates as provided by the 

Company. The discount rate assumption is based on the PDEx (PDST-R2) benchmark yields on 

government bonds as of the valuation dates (or latest available) considering the average years of 

remaining working life of the employees as the estimated term of the benefit obligation. 

 

(c) Risks Associated with the Retirement Plan  

 

The Company does not maintain a fund for its retirement obligation. While funding is not a 

requirement of law, there is a risk that the Company may not have the cash if several employees 

retire within the same year. 

 

(d) Other Information  

 

The information on the sensitivity analysis for certain significant actuarial assumptions, the 

Company’s asset-liability matching strategy, and the timing and uncertainty of future cash flows 

related to the retirement plan are described below and in the succeeding pages.  

 

(i) Sensitivity Analysis  
 

The table below summarizes the effects of changes in the significant actuarial assumptions used in 

the determination of the defined benefit obligation as at December 31, 2024: 

 

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of each 

significant assumption on the defined benefit obligation as at December 31. 

 

 Impact on Post-employment Benefit Obligation 

 Change in 

assumption 
 

Increase in 

assumption 
 

Decrease in 

assumption 

December 31, 2024      

Discount rate  100 basis points  ₱ (53,371)   ₱ 53,371 

Salary growth rate  100 basis points   4,976   (4,976) 

 

 Impact on Post-employment Benefit Obligation 

 
Change in assumption  

Increase in 

assumption 
 

Decrease in 

assumption 

December 31,2023      

Discount rate  100 basis points  ₱ (245,485)   ₱ 269,745 

Salary growth rate  100 basis points   275,411   (254,848) 

 

Each Sensitivity Analysis on the significant actuarial assumptions was prepared by remeasuring the 

DBO at the balance sheet date after first adjusting one of the current assumptions according to the 

applicable sensitivity increment or decrement (based on changes in the relevant assumption that 

were reasonably possible at the valuation date) while all other assumptions remained unchanged. 

The sensitivities were expressed as the corresponding change in DBO. 

 

It should be noted that the changes assumed to be reasonably possible at the valuation date are open 

to subjectivity, and do not consider more complex scenarios in which changes other than those 

assumed may be deemed to be more reasonable. 

 

The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change. 
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(ii) Asset-liability Matching Strategies 

 

The Company does not have a formal retirement plan and therefore has no plan assets to match 

against the liabilities under the Retirement Obligation. 

 

(iii) Funding Arrangements and Expected Contributions 
 

Since the Company does not have a formal retirement plan, benefit claims under the 

Retirement Obligation are paid directly by the Company when they become due. 
 

The maturity profile of undiscounted expected benefit payments from the plan follows: 
 

 2024  2023 

Within one year ₱ -  ₱ - 

More than one year to five years   6,538,114   6,538,114 

More than five years to ten years  946,708   946,708 

More than ten years to 15 years  -   - 

More than 15 years to 20 years  -   - 

More than 20 years  -   - 

 ₱ 7,484,822  ₱ 7,484,822 

 

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period 

is seven (7) years. 

 

NOTE 27 -   INCOME TAXES 
 

Income tax expense (benefit) for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 consists of: 

 

  2024   2023 

Deferred tax expense (income) arising from:      

Temporary differences  ₱ (8,537,035)  ₱ (7,610,830) 

      

Income tax benefit ₱ (8,537,035)  ₱ (7,610,830) 

 

Reconciliation between statutory tax and effective tax follows: 

 

 2024  2023 

Income tax at statutory rate ₱ (8,787,703)  ₱ (8,357,300) 

Tax effect income subject to final tax   (88,322)   (89,856) 

Tax effect of non-deductible interest expense  22,082   22,465 

Tax effect of non-deductible fines and penalties  280,561   820,766 

Tax effect of dividend income  (8,113)   (6,905) 

Tax effect of expired MCIT  44,461   - 

Effective income tax ₱ (8,537,035)  ₱ (7,610,830) 

 

Analysis of income tax payable (prepaid income tax) follows: 
 

 2024  2023 

Regular Corporate Income Tax:  
    

Net income (loss) before tax ₱ (35,150,811)  ₱ (33,429,201) 

Permanent Differences:       

 Interest income subject to final tax  (353,287)   (359,423) 

 Non-deductible interest expense  88,322   89,856 

 Non-deductible fines & penalties  1,122,245   3,283,065 
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 Dividend income  (32,451)   (27,619) 

Temporary Differences:      

Unrealized gain on marketable securities  26,849   26,806 

Reversal of last year's unrealized gain on 

marketable securities 
 

(26,806)   (120,742) 

Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss  (11,631)   31,323 

Reversal of last year's unrealized foreign 

exchange gain (loss) 
 

(31,323)   91,577 

Provision (recovery) of allowance for credit 

losses 
 

47   (2,694) 

Retirement benefit expense  837,035   766,380 

Taxable income  (33,531,811)   (29,650,672) 

Tax rate  25%   25% 

 ₱ (8,382,953)  ₱ (7,412,668) 

 

Minimum Corporate Income Tax: 
     

Gross income ₱ (21,418,773)  ₱ (18,267,995) 

Tax rate  2%   1.5% 

 ₱ (428,375)  ₱ (274,020) 

      

Tax due (Higher of RCIT and MCIT) ₱ -  ₱ - 

Less: Tax credits      

Prior year excess credits  (2,545,431)   (1,715,257) 

1st to 3rd Quarterly income tax payment  -   - 

Creditable withholding tax  (940,071)   (830,174) 

Prepaid income tax ₱ (3,485,502)  ₱ (2,545,431) 

 

The net deferred tax assets pertain to the following as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and the 

related deferred tax expense (income) for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023: 

 

Statements of Financial Position

2023 2023

Credit Lo s s es ₱ 1,900,724       ₱ 1,900,712          ₱                                    12 ₱               (673) ₱                     -   ₱ -                

Retirement 

benefit 

o bliga tio n

1,543,522       1,334,263                                209,259          191,595                     -          (177,401)

NOLCO 24,818,947    16,435,994                           8,382,953      7,412,668                     -   -                

MCIT -                   44,461                                        (44,461)                      -                      -   -                

Unrea lized  

(ga in) lo s s  o n 

FVTP L

6,712                                 6,702                                    10         (23,484)                     -   -                

Unrea lized 

fo re ign 

currency 

(ga in) lo s s

(2,908)                               7,830 (10,738)                        30,724                             -   -                

Net deferred 

tax as s e ts
₱ 28,266,997 ₱ 19,729,962

Deferred tax expens e  (inco me) ₱ 8,537,035                   ₱ 7,610,830    ₱                     -   ₱ (177,401)       

2024 2024 2024 2023

Statements of Comprehensive Income

Profit  or Loss
Other Comprehensive 

Income

 
 

Deferred tax asset from NOLCO, arises from the taxable loss that can be charged against income 

of the next three taxable years except for NOLCO incurred for the year 2020 and 2021. Pursuant to 

Section 4 (bbbb) of Bayanihan II and as implemented under RR No. 25-2020, the net operating loss 

of a business or enterprise incurred for the taxable years 2020 and 2021 can be carried over as 

deduction from gross income for the next five (5) consecutive taxable years following the year of 

such loss. 
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Details of Company’s NOLCO which can be claimed as deductions against future taxable income 

for three (3) consecutive taxable years are as follows: 

 
Year 

Incurred 

 Date of 

Expiration 

 
Amount  Applied  Expired  

Balance 

(NOLCO) 

 2024  2027  ₱ 33,531,811  ₱             -  ₱                  -  ₱ 33,531,811 

 2023  2026  29,650,672  -  -  29,650,672 

 2022  2025     23,259,482                -                  -     23,259,482 

    ₱139,352,119  ₱             -  ₱                  -  ₱139,352,119 

 

Details of Company’s NOLCO which can be claimed as deductions against future taxable income 

for five (5) consecutive taxable years in reference to RR 25 - 2020 are as follows: 
 

Year 

Incurred 

 Date of 

Expiration 

 
Amount  Applied  Expired  

Balance 

(NOLCO) 

           

 2021  2026  ₱ 12,833,818  ₱             -  ₱                 -  ₱ 12,833,818 

 

Deferred tax asset from MCIT, is the carry forward benefit of the excess of minimum corporate 

income tax (MCIT) over the regular corporate income tax (RCIT). Excess MCIT can be used within 

three taxable years from the date of payment. The Minimum Corporate Income Tax (MCIT) was 

reduced to one percent (1%) in July 1, 2020 until June 30, 2023 pursuant to Revenue Regulation 5-

2021. On July 1, 2023, the Minimum Corporate Income Tax (MCIT) was reverted back to two 

percent (2%). 
 

Details of MCIT follows: 

 
Year 

Incurred 
 Amount  Expired  Balance 

 
Date of Expiration 

2021  ₱         44,461  ₱            44,461  ₱           -  December 31, 2024 

 

NOTE 28 -   RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 

The Company, in the normal course of business, has transactions with related parties. Presented 

below are the specific relationship, amount of transactions, account balances, terms and conditions 

and the nature of the consideration to be provided in settlement, and settlement terms. 

 

2024 
Nature of 

Relationship 
 

Nature of 

Transaction 
 

Amount (current 

transaction) 
 

Outstanding 

balance 
 Terms  Conditions 

Shareholders 

and officers 

 Advances    ₱ -  

₱ 55,971,661 

 
(1) 

 
(3)  Collection 

of advances  
  (45,472,062)    

(1) Non-interest bearing, payable in cash, no scheduled repayments terms 

(2) Interest bearing, payable in cash, no scheduled repayments terms 

(3) Unsecured 
 

2023 
Nature of 

Relationship 
 

Nature of 

Transaction 
 

Amount (current 

transaction) 
 

Outstanding 

balance 
 Terms  Conditions 

Shareholders 

and officers 

 Advances    ₱ -  

₱ 101,443,723 

 
(1) 

 
(3)  Payment of 

advances  
  (25,736,414)    

(1)    Non-interest bearing, payable in cash, no scheduled repayments terms 
(2)    Interest bearing, payable in cash, no scheduled repayments terms 

(3)   Unsecured 
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None of the Company’s outstanding balances with related parties has indications of impairment. 

Hence, no impairment losses were recognized in both years (Note 30). 

 

Cash Advances 

 

The Company grants and obtains cash advances from shareholders for working capital purposes of 

the parties. Outstanding balance of this advances are presented as due from related parties under 

other receivables account in the statements of financial position. 

 

The Company grants advances to officers in a form of salary loan. Outstanding balance of this 

advances are presented as advances to officer under other receivables account in the statements of 

financial position. 

 

Key Management Compensation 
 

The compensation given by the Company to key management personnel as at December 31, 2024 

and 2023 consist of the following: 

 2024  2023 

Short-term employee benefits ₱ 14,700,177  ₱ 11,661,458 

Post employee benefits   837,035   628,502 

 ₱ 15,537,212  ₱ 12,289,960 

 

NOTE 29 -   LEASE AGREEMENTS 
 

The Company entered into lease agreements as lessee with an individual for parking spaces in 

Taguig City. The lease term is for a period of one (1) year commencing on January 1 to December 

31, 2023.  

 

The agreements provide for payment of rental deposits recognized in the statements of financial 

position, as part of refundable deposits, amounting to ₱45,990 in 2024 and 2023, respectively as 

disclosed in Note 13. 

 

Lease Payments Not Recognized as Liabilities 

   

The Company has elected not to recognize a lease liability for short-term leases or for leases of 

low value assets.  Payments made under such leases are expensed on a straight-line basis.  In 

addition, certain variable lease payments are not permitted to be recognized as lease liabilities and 

are expensed as incurred.  

 

The expenses relating short-term lease amounted to ₱519,989 and ₱858,701 in 2024 and 2023, 

respectively and is presented as Rent under Direct Costs in the statement of comprehensive income 

(Note 21). 

 

NOTE 30 -   FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

 

The Company is exposed to a variety of financial risks which result from both its operating and 

investing activities. The Company’s risk management is coordinated with the Board of Directors, 

and focuses on actively securing the Company’s short-to-medium term cash flows by minimizing 

the exposure to financial markets. Long-term financial investments are managed to generate lasting 

returns. 

 

The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by 

the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to 

limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market 

conditions and the Company’s business activities. The Company, through its training and 
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management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control 

environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 

 

The most significant financial risks to which the Company is exposed to are described below: 

 

Market Risk 

 

The Company is exposed to market risk through its use of financial instruments and specifically to 

foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and certain other price risk which result from both its 

operating, investing and financing activities.  

 

A. Foreign Currency Risk 
 

The Company’s exposure to the risk for changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the 

Company’s dollar denominated deposits. As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company’s dollar 

denominated deposits amounted to ₱270,381 and ₱332,443, respectively (Note 6).   

 

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the management determined that the Company’s to foreign 

currency risk is insignificant, however, to mitigate exposure, the Company monitors its dollar 

deposit. 
 

B. Interest Rate Risk 
 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instruments will 

fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company 

is exposed to changes in market interest rates through its cash in banks which are subject to variable 

interest rates (Note 6). The Company’s exposure to changes in interest rates is not significant. All 

other financial assets and liabilities have fixed rates. 
 

C. Price Risk 
 

The Company’s market price risk arises from its investments carried at fair value (i.e., financial 

assets classified as financial assets at FVTPL).  The Company manages exposures to price risk by 

monitoring the changes in the market price of the investments and at some extent, diversifying the 

investment portfolio in accordance with the limit set by management. 

 

For listed equity securities, an average volatility of 15% and 14% has been observed during 2024 

and 2023, respectively.  The table below summarizes the sensitivity of the Company profit before 

tax to the observed volatility rates of the fair values.  
 

  2024  2023 

Observed Volatility Rates  +15%  -15%  +14.00%  -14.00% 

         
Profit before tax ₱ 1,856 ₱ (1,856) ₱ 4,356 ₱ (4,356) 

The assumed price volatilities used in the sensitivity analysis represent the defined shift used by the 

Company to manage price risk based on the historical performance of equity securities. 
 

Credit Risk 
 

The Company’s exposure to credit risk arises mainly from transactions with its customers.  The 

maximum exposure to credit on these transactions is equal to the carrying amount of these financial 

instruments.  Customers are subject to stringent financial, credit and legal verification process.  In 

addition, trade receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure timely collections.  
 

With respect to credit risk arising from other financial assets of the Company, which comprise cash 

and cash equivalents and receivable from clearing house, the Company’s exposure to credit risk 



Salisbury Securities Corporation    Page 39 of 48 

Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

 

 

arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of 

these instruments.  The Company limits its exposure to credit risks by depositing its cash only with 

financial institutions duly evaluated and approved by the BOD. The Company’s exposure on rental 

deposit is minimal since no default in payments were made by the counterparties. 

 

The tables below show the credit quality per class of financial asset and an aging analysis of past 

due but not impaired accounts as at December 31, 2024 and 2023. 
 

Credit Quality per Class of Financial Asset  
 

2024 

 
 Neither Past Due nor Impaired  

Past Due but 

not impaired 

 

Impaired 

 

Total 
 High Grade  

Standard 

Grade 
 

Substandard 

Grade 
 

  

                  

Cash in banks  ₱ 104,861,340  ₱ -  ₱ -  ₱ -  ₱ -  ₱ 104,861,340 

Receivables 

from customers  -   51,156   -   7,602,893   -   7,654,049 

Other 

receivables  50,446,523   -   -   -   -   50,446,523 

Due from 

related parties  55,971,661   -   -   -   -   55,971,661 

Refundable 

deposits  9,827,943   -   -   -   -   9,827,943 

 ₱ 221,107,467  ₱ 51,156  ₱ -  ₱ 7,602,893  ₱ -  ₱ 228,761,516 

 

2023  
 Neither Past Due nor Impaired  

Past Due but 

not impaired 

 

Impaired 

 

Total 
 High Grade  

Standard 

Grade 
 

Substandard 

Grade 
 

  

                  

Cash in banks  ₱ 104,259,669  ₱ -  ₱ -  ₱ -  ₱ -  ₱ 104,259,669 

Receivables 

from customers  -   49,511,123   -   7,602,846   -   57,113,969 

Other 

receivables  30,869,257   -   -   -   -   30,869,257 

Due from 

related parties  101,443,723   -   -   -   -   101,443,723 

Refundable 

deposits  8,672,833   -   -   -   -   8,672,833 

 ₱ 245,245,482  ₱ 49,511,123  ₱ -  ₱ 7,602,846  ₱ -  ₱ 302,359,451 

 

 

The credit quality of the financial assets is managed by the Company using the internal credit quality 

ratings.  High grade accounts consist of receivables from debtors with good financial condition and 

with relatively low defaults.  Financial assets having risks of default but are still collectible are 

considered standard grade accounts.  Receivables that are still collectible but require persistent 

effort from the Company to collect are considered substandard grade accounts. 

 

The Company’s receivable from customers related to unsecured and partially secured account is 

actively monitored to avoid significant concentrations of credit risk. A substantial portion of the 

Company’s receivable from customers is secured by shares of stocks listed and traded in the PSE 

and lodged with Philippine Depository and Trust Corporation (PDTC) under the account of the 

Company. 

 

The table below is an analysis of receivables from customers is as follows: 

 

2024  

 

  Balance  
Collateral (net 

of haircut) 
 

Counterparty 

exposure (after 

collateral) 

 
Allowance for 

credit losses 
 Net exposure 

T to T+1 of 

counterparty 
 

₱ 17,809  ₱ 54,600  ₱ (36,791)  ₱ -  ₱ - 
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T+2 to T+12 of 

counterparty 
 

 -   -   -   -   - 

T+13 to T+30 

of counterparty 
 

 -   -   -   -   - 

Beyond T+31 

of counterparty 
 

 7,636,240   151,246   7,484,994   7,602,893   - 

  ₱ 7,654,049  ₱ 205,846  ₱ 7,448,203  ₱ 7,602,893  ₱ - 

 

2023  

 

  Balance  
Collateral (net 

of haircut) 
 

Counterparty 

exposure (after 

collateral) 

 
Allowance for 

credit losses 
 Net exposure 

T to T+1 of 

counterparty 
 

₱ 49,476,149  ₱ 42,022,123  ₱ 7,454,026  ₱ -  ₱ 7,453,846 

T+2 to T+12 of 

counterparty 
 

 -   -   -   -   - 

T+13 to T+30 

of counterparty 
 

 -   -   -   -   - 

Beyond T+31 of 

counterparty 
 

 7,637,820   1,388,249   6,249,571   7,602,846   - 

  ₱ 57,113,969  ₱ 43,410,373  ₱ 13,703,597  ₱ 7,602,846  ₱ 7,453,846 

 

The Company continuously monitors defaults of customers and other counterparties, identified 

either individually or by group, and incorporate this information into its credit risk controls. The 

Company trades only with recognized and creditworthy third parties. It is the Company’s policy 

that all customers are subject to credit verification procedures.  

 

In respect of receivable from customers and clearing house and other receivables, the Company is 

not exposed to any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of 

counterparties having similar characteristics.  
 

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the statements 

of financial position. The maximum exposure is shown at gross amount, without taking into account 

collateral and other credit enhancement. 

 

  2024   2023 

Cash in banks  ₱ 104,861,340  ₱ 104,259,669 

Receivables from customers  7,654,049   57,113,969 

Other receivables  50,820,662   30,869,757 

Due from related parties  55,971,661   101,443,723 

Refundable deposits  9,827,943   8,672,833 

 ₱ 228,761,516  ₱ 302,359,951 

 

None of the Company’s financial assets are secured by collateral or other credit enhancements, 

except for cash and cash equivalents as described below. 

 

(a) Cash 

 

The credit risk for cash is considered negligible, since the counterparties are reputable banks with 

high quality external credit ratings.  Included in the cash are cash in banks which are insured by the 

Philippine Deposit Insurance Corporation up to a maximum coverage of ₱500,000 for every 

depositor per banking institution. 

 

(b)  Receivables from Customers 

 

The Company trades only with recognized and credit worthy third parties. In accordance with 

RBCA requirements, limits are imposed to avoid large exposures to a single client or counterparty, 
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single debt issue and single equity issue relative to a particular issuer company and its group of 

companies. As a result, maximum credit risk, without taking into account the fair value of any 

collateral and netting agreements, is limited to the amounts in the statements of financial position. 
 

A substantial portion of the Company’s Receivable from Customers is secured by shares of stocks 

(Note 8). 

 

The Company applies the provision of SRC Rules 52.1.11 and Risk Based Capital Adequacy in 

measuring Credit Losses. In 2023 Section 52.1.11.2 and 52.1.11.3 was amended through SEC 

Memorandum Circular No. 11 Series of 2023. 

 

To measure the credit losses, receivables were classified based on the provision of SRC Rule No. 

52.1.11.2 as follows: 

 

Classification 

 

T+0 to T+1 

T+2 to T+12 

T+13 to T+30 

T+31 up 

 

The credit loss rates are based on the provision of SRC Rule No. 52.1.11.3 as follows: 

 

Classification  Provision   Base 

      

T+0 to T+0 to T+1  0   Total Receivables (TR) 

T+2 to T+2 to T+12  2%   TR 

T+13 to T+13 to T+30  50%   TR less collateral (net of haircut) 

T+31 up  100%   TR less collateral (net of haircut) 
 

 

The credit losses were computed by getting, for each doubtful account an amount equivalent to the 

provision of the amount outstanding net of collateral (net of haircut). Basis for the computation 

would be the individual accounts. 

 

(c) Other Receivables, Due from Related Parties and Refundable Deposits 

 

The loss allowance is to be determined using the general approach. The amount of ECL is not 

significant due to the fact that the collectability of contractual cash flows expected from these 

financial instruments is reasonably assured. 

 

Liquidity Risk 

 

Liquidity risk is generally defined as the current and prospective risk to earnings or capital arising 

from the Company’s inability to meet its obligation when they come due without recurring 

unacceptable losses or coats. 

 

The Company manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring cash inflows and cash outflows 

due in day-to-day business. Liquidity needs are monitored in various time bands, on a day-to-day 

and week-to-week basis, as well as on the basis of rolling 30-day projection. Long-term liquidity 

needs for a 6-month and one-year period are identified monthly. 
 

The Company maintains cash to meet its liquidity requirements for up to 60-day periods. Excess 

cash are invested in time deposits and short-term placements. Funding for long-term liquidity needs 

is additionally secured by an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to sell 

long-term financial assets. 
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Company’s payable to customers are normally settled within three (2) days in 2024 and within three 

(3) days in 2023. Other payables are normally settled within one (1) year after reporting date. 
 

The following table presents the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities as at 

December 31, 2024 and 2023 based on contractual undiscounted payments. 

 
 December 31, 2024 

 
Within 3 

months 
 

3 months to 6 

months 
 

6 months to 1 

year 

 
1 to 3 years  Total 

Payable to 

customers ₱ 3,472,513  ₱ -  ₱ -  ₱ -  ₱ 3,472,513 

Payable to clearing 

house  13,225   -   -   -   13,225 

Other payables  3,296,459   -   -   -   3,296,459 

Loans payable  2,207,203   2,279,613   4,559,225   29,634,965   38,681,006 

 ₱ 8,989,400  ₱ 2,279,613  ₱ 4,559,225  ₱ 29,634,965  ₱ 68,435,543 

 
 December 31, 2023 

 
Within 3 

months 
 

3 months to 6 

months 
 

6 months to 1 

year 

 
1 to 3 years  Total 

Payable to 

customers ₱ 25,919,984  ₱ -  ₱ -  ₱ -  ₱ 25,919,984 

Payable to clearing 

house  26,391,966   -   -   -   26,391,966 

Other payables  9,773,387   -   -   -   9,773,387 

Loans payable  13,470,156   2,207,203   4,414,407   37,522,457   57,614,223 

 ₱ 75,555,493  ₱ 2,207,203  ₱ 4,414,407  ₱ 37,522,457  ₱ 119,699,560 

 

NOTE 31 -   CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 

The Company’s objective in managing capital is to ensure that a stable capital base is maintained 

in accordance with industry regulations while maintaining investor, creditor, and market confidence 

to sustain the future development of the business. 

 

The Company’s BOD has the overall responsibility for monitoring capital proportion to risks. The 

Associated Person designated by the Company monitors compliance with minimum capital 

requirements imposed by PSE and SEC. 
 

The Company, being a broker/dealer in securities, is regulated by PSE and SEC and subject to the 

following capital requirement in accordance with the Securities Regulatory Commission (SRC).  

 

Risk Based Capital Adequacy Requirement 
 

Based on SEC Memorandum Circular No. 16, the Company is required an RBCA ratio of greater 

than or equal to 1.1. The RBCA ratio is computed by dividing Company’s Net Liquid Capital (NLC) 

to its Total Risk Capital Requirement (TRCR). TRCR is the sum of: a) Operational Risk 

Requirement (ORR); b) Credit Risk Requirement which include requirements for Counterparty 

Risk, Settlement Risk, Large Exposure Risk, and Margin Lending/Financing Risk; and c) Position 

or Market Risk Requirement. 

 

On August 8, 2023, the SEC approved amendments to the 2015 Implementing Rules and 

Regulations of the Securities Regulation Code (the “2015 SRC Rules”) and SEC Memorandum 

Circular (MC) No. 16, series of 2004, relative to the settlement cycle from T+3 to T+2.  
 

The Company’s RBCA ratio as at years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 are 150% and 135%, 

respectively. 

 

Details of computation of the Company’s Risk Based Capital Adequacy Ratio are shown below: 
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 2024  2023 

Net liquid capital      

Equity eligible for net liquid capital ₱ 194,201,814  ₱ 229,355,533 

Ineligible assets  132,426,085   156,763,716 

  Total  61,775,729   72,591,817 

Risk capital requirements      

  Operational risk requirement  40,945,318   53,644,399 

  Position risk requirement  179,397   320,703 

  Counterparty risk  -   - 

  Total ₱ 41,124,715  ₱ 53,965,102 

Risk based capital adequacy ratio  150%   135% 

 

Net Liquid Capital 

 

The Company is required, at all times, to have and maintain a Net Liquid Capital (NLC) of five 

million (₱ 5M) or 5% of its Aggregate Indebtedness (AI), whichever is higher. 

 

In computing for NLC, all non-allowable asset/equities, and collateralized liabilities will be 

deducted and allowable liabilities and equities are added to equity per books. 

 

Details of Company NLC as of years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 are shown below: 

 

 2024  2023 

Aggregate indebtedness ₱ 43,658,481  ₱ 81,910,687 

    

Net liquid capital ₱ 61,775,729  ₱ 72,591,817 

Less: Required net liquid capital, higher of:      

        5% aggregate indebtedness  2,182,924   4,095,534 

        Minimum amount  5,000,000   5,000,000 

        Required net liquid capital  5,000,000   5,000,000 

Net risk-based capital excess ₱ 56,775,729  ₱ 67,591,817 

Ratio of aggregate indebtedness to net liquid 

capital  71%   113% 

 

Total Risk Capital Requirement 

 

Detail of TRCR follows: 

 

a) Operational Risk 

 

It is the exposure that is associated with commencing and remaining in business arising separately 

from exposures covered by other risk requirements. It is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate 

of failed internal process, people and systems which include, among others, risk if fraud, operational 

or settlement failure and shortage of liquid resources, or from external events. 

 

Below is the manual computation of operational risk requirement for the last three years: 

 
Revenue 2023  2022  2021  Average 

            

Commission revenue ₱ 175,484,966  ₱ 181,180,582  ₱ 255,956,039  ₱ 204,207,196 

Interest income  359,423   293,369   435,916   362,903 

Net recovery on market 

decline of financial asset 
at FVTPL  -   -   -    



Salisbury Securities Corporation    Page 44 of 48 

Notes to Financial Statements 

 
 

 

 

Rent income  -   -   -   - 

Dividend income  27,619   24,092   26,522   26,078 

Gain on sale of 

marketable securities  -   -   -   - 

Gain on sale of other 
assets  -   -   -   - 

Other income/revenue  132,064   126,980   132,200   130,415 

Average of the last three  176,004,072   181,625,023   256,550,677   204,726,591 

year gross income            

Operational risk factor           20% 

Total operational risk 

requirement           ₱ 40,945,318 

 

The Company’s Core Equity should, at all times, be greater than its Operational Risk Requirement. 

 

Core Equity refers to the sum of paid-up common stock, common stock dividends distributable, 

additional paid-in capital, surplus reserves excluding revaluation reserves or appraisal capital, and 

opening retained earnings adjusted for all current year movements. Core Equity shall exclude 

treasury shares and un-booked valuation reserves and other capital adjustments (such as unrealized 

gain in value of FVOCI securities). 
 

The Company has no operational risk exposure since its Core Equity is greater than the operational 

risk requirement as calculated. 

 

b) Position/Price Risk 
 

The Company is exposed to equity security price risk because of investments held and classified in 

the Statement of Financial Position as Fair Value through other comprehensive income and Fair 

Value through Profit or Loss. The Company is not exposed to commodity price risk. To manage its 

price risk arising from investments in equity securities, the Company diversifies its portfolio. 

Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the management. 
 

Below is the manual computation of position risk requirement as of the years ended December 31, 

2024 and 2023: 

 

2024 

 Total Market 

Value of 

Instrument 

 
Position Risk 

Factors 
 

Position Risk 

Requirement 

Equities in PHISIX ₱ 195,170   25.00%   ₱ 48,793 

Other equities outside the PHISIX  311,354   35.00%   108,974 

FX Position  270,381   8.00%   21,630 

 ₱ 776,905   -  ₱ 179,397 

 

2023 

 Total Market 

Value of 

Instrument 

 
Position Risk 

Factors 
 

Position Risk 

Requirement 

Equities in PHISIX ₱ 545,878   25.00%   ₱ 136,470 

Other equities outside the PHISIX  450,395   35.00%   157,638 

FX Position  332,443   8.00%   26,595 

 ₱ 1,328,716   -  ₱ 320,703 
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c) Large Exposure Risk 

 

It is a risk to which a broker dealer is exposed to a single equity security or single issuer group. This 

is the maximum permissible large exposure and calculated as a percentage of core equity. 

 

The Company does not have any exposure to single client or counterparty, direct exposure to debt 

for fixed income securities, and direct exposure to a single equity relative to a particular issuer 

company and its group of companies as the Company does not exceed to the maximum Large 

Exposure Risk Limit of 30% of its Core Equity. 
 

d) Counterparty Risk Exposure 
 

Unsettled customer trades (arising from customer-to-broker agency relationship)- A counterparty 

exposure of this kind occurs when a) the customer poses the possible risk of failing to deliver 

securities on a sell contract or b) the customer poses the possible risk of failing to pay cash on a buy 

contract. 
 

Unsettled principal trades (arising from broker-to-broker or broker-to-exchange/clearing agency 

relationships). A counterparty exposure risk of this kind occurs when a) the broker dealer poses the 

possible risk of failing receive cash from its counterparty on a sell contract or b) the broker dealer 

poses the possible risk of failing to receive the securities from its counterparty on a buy contract. 

 

Debts/loans, contra losses and other amounts due- A broker dealer has a counterparty exposure if a 

debt/loan, receivable from a customer/client, contra loss, or any other amount due is not paid on its 

agreed due date. In the case of a contra loss, the due date shall be the date of the contra. 

 

The Company has no counterparty exposure as of the reporting date. 

 

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company is in compliance with Risk Based Capital 

Adequacy Requirement.  

 

NOTE 32 -   FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 

 

The fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 

orderly transaction in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under 

the current market condition regardless of whether the price is directly observable or estimated 

using another valuation technique. 

 

The following table presents the carrying amounts and fair values of the Company’s assets and 

liabilities measured at fair value and for which fair values are disclosed, and the corresponding fair 

value hierarchy: 

 
    2024 

    Fair Value 

 Notes Carrying Amount  

Quoted prices in 

active markets 

(Level 1) 

 

Significant 

observable 

inputs 

(Level 2) 

 

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs 

(Level 3) 

Assets measured at fair 

value: 

 

           

Financial asset at FVPL 7 ₱ 506,524  ₱ 506,524  ₱ -  ₱ - 

Assets for which fair values 

are disclosed: 

 

           

Cash 6    104,879,440   -   104,879,440   - 

Receivable from customers 8  51,156   -   51,156   - 

Other receivables 10  50,446,523   -   50,446,523   - 

Due from related parties 28  55,971,661   -   55,971,661   - 

Refundable deposits 14  9,827,943   -   9,827,943   - 

  ₱ 221,683,247  ₱ 506,524  ₱ 221,176,723  ₱ - 

Liabilities for which fair 

values are disclosed:  

 

       3,472,513    

Payable to customers 15 ₱ 3,472,513  ₱ -  ₱ 13,225  ₱ - 

Payable to clearing house 9  13,225   -   3,296,459   - 
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Other payables 16  3,296,459   -   61,653,346   - 

Loans payable 18  61,653,346   -   68,435,543   - 

  ₱ 68,435,543  ₱ -  ₱ 3,472,513  ₱ - 

 
    2023 

    Fair Value 

 Notes Carrying Amount  

Quoted prices in 

active markets 

(Level 1) 

 

Significant 

observable inputs 

(Level 2) 

 

Significant 

unobservable inputs 

(Level 3) 

Assets measured at fair value:             

Financial asset at FVPL 7 ₱ 996,273  ₱ 996,273  ₱ -  ₱ - 

Assets for which fair values are 

disclosed: 

 

           

Cash 6    104,277,769   -   104,277,769   - 

Receivable from customers 8  49,511,123   -   49,511,123   - 

Other receivables 10  30,869,757   -   30,869,757   - 

Due from related parties 28  101,443,723   -   101,443,723   - 

Refundable deposits 14  8,672,833   -   8,672,833   - 

  ₱ 295,771,478  ₱ 996,273  ₱ 294,775,205  ₱ - 

Liabilities for which fair values 

are disclosed:  

 

           

Payable to customers 15 ₱ 25,919,984  ₱ -  ₱ 25,919,984  ₱ - 

Payable to clearing house 9  26,391,966   -   26,391,966   - 

Other payables 16  9,773,387   -   9,773,387   - 

Loans payable 18  48,756,294   -   48,756,294   - 

  ₱ 110,841,631  ₱ -  ₱ 110,841,631  ₱ - 

 

Offsetting of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 

 

The following financial assets and financial liabilities with net amount presented in the statements 

of financial position are subject to offsetting, enforceable matter netting arrangements and similar 

arrangements: 

 
 Gross amounts recognized in the 

statements of financial position 
 Net amount presented in 

statement of financial 

position 
 

Financial assets  
Financial 

Liabilities 
 

December 31, 2024         

Payable to clearing house ₱ 251,275  ₱ (264,500)   ₱ (13,225) 

December 31, 2023         

Receivable from clearing house ₱ 56,241,148  ₱ (82,633,114)   ₱ (26,391,966) 

 

NOTE 33 -   RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING 

ACTIVITIES 
 

Present below is the reconciliation of the Company’s liabilities arising from financing activities, 

which includes both cash and non-cash changes.  

 

2024 

  
 Loans Payable 

(Note 18) 

Balance as of January 1, 2024    ₱ 48,756,294 

Cash flow from Financing Activities:      

Additional Borrowing     30,000,000  

Repayment of Borrowing     (17,102,948) 

Balance as of December 31, 2024    ₱ 61,653,346 

 

2023 

  
 Loans Payable 

(Note 18) 

Balance as of January 1, 2024    ₱ 43,553,659 

Cash flow from Financing Activities:      

Additional Borrowing     145,000,000  
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Repayment of Borrowing     (139,797,365) 

Balance as of December 31, 2024    ₱ 48,756,294 

 

NOTE 34 -   SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION REQUIRED BY THE BUREAU OF 

INTERNAL REVENUE 

 

Presented below and in the succeeding pages is the supplementary information which is required 

by the Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) under Revenue Regulation (RR) No. 15-2010 disclosed 

as part of the notes to financial statements.  This supplementary information is not a required 

disclosure under PFRS Accounting Standards. 

 

The information on taxes, duties and license fees paid or accrued during the taxable year required 

under RR No. 15-2010 are presented below and in the succeeding pages. 

 

a) Output VAT 

 

In 2024, the Company declared output VAT as follows:   

 

 Tax Base  Output VAT 

Taxable Sales ₱ 73,686,734  ₱ 8,842,408 

Sales to Government  1,374,171   164,901 

  75,060,905   9,007,309 

 

The tax bases are included as part of Revenue and Other Income in the 2024 statements of 

comprehensive income.  

 

b) Input VAT 
 

Movement in input VAT for the year ended December 31, 2024 follow: 
 

     Amount 

Beginning balance    ₱ - 

Capital goods not exceeding 1M     25,153 

Domestic purchase of goods other than capital goods      8,845 

Domestic purchase of services       2,057,324 

Services rendered by non-residents     521,675 

Others     3,321 

Input VAT allocable to sales to government     (23,486) 

Applied against output vat     (2,592,832) 

Balance at end of year    ₱ - 

 

c) Taxes and Licenses  

 

The details of Taxes and Licenses account (Note 24) are broken down as follows: 

 
     Amount 

Municipal license and permits    ₱ 269,995 

SEC license renewal     113,150 

Real property taxes     101,704 

Documentary stamp tax     269,230 

Registration     500 

Others     26,961 

    ₱ 781,540 
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The amounts of taxes and licenses shown above are included under the operating expenses in the 

statements of comprehensive income. 
 

d) Withholding Taxes 
 

The details of total withholding taxes for the year ended December 31, 2024 are shown below. 

 

     Amount 

Withholding tax at source (expanded)    ₱ 684,872 

Final withholding tax     1,002,606 

Withholding tax on compensation     1,433,152 

    ₱ 3,120,630 
 

e) Tax Assessments and Cases 
 

On February 2, 2015, the Company received Letter of Authority from the Bureau of Internal 

Revenue with a serial number of eLA201100080557 for the examination of books of accounts and 

accounting records of the company for the period January 1, 2013 to December 31, 2013. As of 

reporting date, the examination is still ongoing. 

 

On January 25, 2016, the Company received Letter of Authority from the Bureau of Internal 

Revenue with a serial number of eLA201200035755 for the examination of books of accounts and 

accounting records of the company for the period January 1, 2014 to December 31, 2014. As of 

reporting date, the examination is still ongoing. 

 

On July 6, 2021, the Company received a Letter of Authority from the Bureau of Internal Revenue 

with a serial number of eLA201700064371 for the examination of books of accounts and accounting 

records of the company for the period January 1, 2020 to December 31, 2020. The examination was 

terminated in 2024 upon payment of deficiency tax amounting to ₱699,990 including compromise 

penalty, interest and surcharge. 

 

The Company received a Letter of Authority from the Bureau of Internal Revenue with serial 

number of eLA202300003944 for the examination of books of accounts and accounting records of 

the company for the period January 1, 2022, to December 31, 2022. The examination was 

terminated in 2024 upon payment of deficiency tax amounting to ₱413,730 including compromise 

penalty, interest and surcharge. 

 





























 

 

 

SALISBURY SECURITIES CORPORATION 

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF EXTERNAL AUDITOR 

FEE-RELATED INFORMATION 

December 31, 2024 and 2023 

 

 

 Current Year Prior Year 

   

Total Audit Fees  P               110,000 100,000 

   

Non-audit services fees:   

     Other assurance services - - 

     Tax services - - 

     All other services - - 

Total Non-audit Fees - - 

   

Total Audit and Non-audit Fees P               110,000 100,000 

 

Audit and Non-audit fees of other related entities 

 

 Current Year Prior Year 

   

Audit fees P                           - - 

Non-audit services fees:   

     Other assurance services - - 

     Tax services - - 

     All other services - - 

Total Audit and Non-audit Fees of other related   

entities P                           - - 

 
 


